

UNLV Theses, Dissertations, Professional Papers, and Capstones

12-1-2021

# How long-term, non-monogamous romantic relationships maintain sexual satisfaction

Anna Kessler

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalscholarship.unlv.edu/thesesdissertations

Part of the Marriage and Family Therapy and Counseling Commons, Psychiatric and Mental Health Commons, and the Social and Behavioral Sciences Commons

#### **Repository Citation**

Kessler, Anna, "How long-term, non-monogamous romantic relationships maintain sexual satisfaction" (2021). *UNLV Theses, Dissertations, Professional Papers, and Capstones*. 4297. http://dx.doi.org/10.34917/28340347

This Thesis is protected by copyright and/or related rights. It has been brought to you by Digital Scholarship@UNLV with permission from the rights-holder(s). You are free to use this Thesis in any way that is permitted by the copyright and related rights legislation that applies to your use. For other uses you need to obtain permission from the rights-holder(s) directly, unless additional rights are indicated by a Creative Commons license in the record and/or on the work itself.

This Thesis has been accepted for inclusion in UNLV Theses, Dissertations, Professional Papers, and Capstones by an authorized administrator of Digital Scholarship@UNLV. For more information, please contact digitalscholarship@unlv.edu.

# HOW LONG-TERM, NON-MONOGAMOUS ROMANTIC RELATIONSHIPS MAINTAIN SEXUAL SATISFACTION

By

Anna G. Kessler

Bachelor of Science – Psychology Bachelor of Arts – Psychology University of Cincinnati 2018

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the

Master of Science – Couple and Family Therapy

Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Health School of Medicine Graduate College

> University of Nevada, Las Vegas December 2021



# **Thesis Approval**

The Graduate College The University of Nevada, Las Vegas

November 9, 2021

This thesis prepared by	
Anna Kessler	
entitled	
How long-term, non-monogamous romantic relation	onships maintain sexual satisfaction
is approved in partial fulfillment of the requiremen	ts for the degree of
Master of Science – Couple and Family Therapy Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Health	
Katherine Hertlein, Ph.D.  Examination Committee Chair	Kathryn Hausbeck Korgan, Ph.D. Vice Provost for Graduate Education & Dean of the Graduate College

Margaret Alexis Kennedy, Ph.D. Graduate College Faculty Representative

Sara Jordan, Ph.D.

Brandon Eddy, Ph.D. Examination Committee Member

Examination Committee Member

#### **Abstract**

Eroticism is an important element of couple's relationships. Sexual intimacy has the power to bring couples closer together, as higher levels of sexual intimacy results in higher relationship satisfaction, or hinder relationships if either or both partners aren't sexually satisfied in their relationship. The current study's purpose is to understand how long-term, non-monogamous relationships have successfully maintained "eroticism" throughout the course of their relationship. In this study, 24 couples who are in a committed, romantic relationship of at least 7 years were interviewed. The interviews were conducted individually over a video call platform, and each was completed withing approximately 60 minutes. The couple received an incentive in the form of a gift card for their time. Nine themes emerged from the interviews: novelty, cultivating life-long learning, conjoint learning, love languages, communication, acceptance of partner, partner match, sex positivity and reinforcing/reteaching messages for future generations. We found incorporation of erotica, maintaining a sex-positive outlook and showing love to one's partner in the ways in which they receive love were vital in the maintenance of sexual satisfaction.

*Keywords*: long-term, relationship, sexuality, love, affection, eroticism, sex-positivity, satisfaction

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract	iii
Table of Contents	iv
Chapter I: Introduction	1
Chapter II: Literature Review	5
Sexual Satisfaction	5
Stigma Around Sexuality, Limiting Pleasure	8
Formal Sex Education: One Arena Where the Stigma Emerges	11
Informal Sex Education: Another Arena Where Stigma around Pleasure Emerges	16
Benefits of Sex Positive Education	19
Ethical Non-Monogamy	22
Systems Theory	23
Purpose of the Study	25
Chapter III: Method	26
Participants	26
Philosophy, Design and Procedure	26
Instrumentation	28
Chapter IV: Findings	30
Use of Erotic Material	30
Showing Love	37

Valence of Sexuality	45
Chapter V: Discussion	54
Clinical Implications.	59
Limitations and Future Research.	62
Conclusion	65
Appendix A: Interview Questions	66
Appendix B: Demographics Survey	67
Appendix C: Recruitment Flyer	69
Appendix D: Tables	70
References	74
Curriculum Vitae	94

# **Chapter I: Introduction**

As long as sexual and romantic relationships have existed, sexual intimacy has existed. The Oxford dictionary defines intimacy in a few different ways, the most relevant being "the state of having a close personal relationship with someone" and "sexual activity, especially an act of sexual intercourse" ("Intimacy," 2020). Sexual intimacy is a dominant aspect of romantic relationships, therefore, plays a significant role in overall relationship satisfaction. This is a common belief, as Byers, S. (p. 113, 2010) states, "both therapists and the general public see the quality of a couple's romantic relationship and the quality of their sex life as linked." Research has supported this idea, finding that both partners in a relationship reported higher levels of romantic fulfillment when there were higher levels of sexual satisfaction (Byers, 2010). Another study found similar results with a couple's sexual fulfillment heavily influencing the overall satisfaction of the relationship, even having a strong impact on non-sexual aspects of the relationship (Young et al., 1998).

These findings are pivotal in understanding the importance of sexual gratification and its role in romantic success. Moreover, Debrot et al. (2017) conducted a four-part study that found people who engage in intercourse regularly, reported higher levels of general life satisfaction.

This exemplifies that not only is sexual satisfaction important to relationships but continues to impact areas of life outside of that relationship as well; meaning human's sexual satisfaction is a major feature in a person's overall happiness.

When one thinks of sex, they may think of the act itself rather than the additional behaviors and emotions that come with it. As we know from Oxford's definition of intimacy, sexual intimacy is much more than just the act of penetration. In fact, a previous study found any

sexual encounter in couples increased the likelihood of affection the following day (Birnbaum et al., 2006), as well as another study which found that emotional intimacy with a partner often is a leading factor to participating in sexual intercourse (Muise et al., 2013). This allows us to explore the idea that not all sexual satisfaction comes from the act of penetration itself, but potentially sexual satisfaction could be experienced through erotic interactions that leave out sexual intercourse, or that being romantic, such as general affection, could potentially enhance sexual satisfaction.

While most research on sexual satisfaction is conducted on straight, monogamous couples (Byers, 2010; Mark et al., 2013; Mark & Jozkowski, 2013; Mark et al., 2013; Noland, 2020; Schoenfeld, et al., 2016; Vowels & Mark, 2018; Vowels & Mark, 2020), other relationship orientations exist, such as, ethical non-monogamy. Non-monogamy is when both partners in a relationship consensually agree to see other people (either in relationships of a sexual, romantic and/or emotional nature) while continuing to see each other (Barker & Langdridge, 2010; Conley et al., 2013; Matsick et al., 2014;). Examples of non-monogamy include open relationships, swingers, polyamory (Stephens & Emmers-Sommer, 2019). While little data exists on these non-traditional relationships, preliminary evidence shows that non-monogamous couples have high levels of communication and honesty (McLean, 2004), negotiate to lessen interpersonal conflict (Mogilski et al., 2015), and report being in love, happy and satisfied in their relationship (de Visser & McDonald, 2007; Jenks, 1985; Ritchie & Barker, 2006).

Regardless of non-monogamous experiences, there is a lack of understanding and a perpetuation of stigma surrounding non-monogamy in the north American culture (Conley, Perry, et al., 2018). This dearth of comprehension and familiarity can potentially lead to the viewing non-monogamy as an "other" to which research has found that stigma often originates from the

fear of the "other" (Hays, 2013; Liamputtong, 2013). This could support the idea that the continuation of misinformation and misunderstandings concerning non-monogamy could be perpetuating the stigma behind non-monogamous relationships. One stigmatized view of non-monogamous relationships related to monogamous relationships being viewed more positively in both relationship (e.g. trust, passion) and non-relationship (e.g. completing taxes on time, dental hygiene) aspects (Conley et al., 2013), another stigma of non-monogamy is the dehumanization of these relationships in comparison to monogamous relationships (Rodrigues et al., 2017). In contrast to these beliefs and ideas, preliminary research shows non-monogamous relationships have just as high, if not higher, levels of sexual satisfaction than their monogamous counterparts (Conley, Piemonte, et al., 2018). It is important to understand non-monogamous individuals for many reasons, such as their high levels of sexual satisfaction, in order to apply the methods that build these levels of satisfaction into additional areas that could benefit society, such as therapy techniques.

Why should we study nm in couples? Why should we study sexual satisfaction in non-monogamous couples? One important factor relates to preliminary research showing that non-monogamous couples tend to have higher levels of sexual satisfaction (Conley, Piemonte, et al., 2018). Sexual satisfaction is important in relationships for many reasons - intimacy is a natural part of romantic relationships not just for pleasure, but to reproduce. It is important to procreate, and connection is often a major factor contributing to sexual activity (Muise et al., 2013). This implied that connection could be necessary to continue the human race. Another reason to further understand contributions to sexual satisfaction in non-monogamous couples is how those with higher sexual satisfaction often have greater levels of life satisfaction (Debrot et al., 2017) and health (Brody, 2010; Brody & Costa, 2009; Higgins et al., 2011). This is fundamental in our

culture because having healthy physical and mental states helps general society, therefore studying and understanding these satisfaction levels along with applying them to general relationships, benefits society. Additionally, while the research covered thus far has supported the effects of sexual satisfaction within relationships, in particular, less research has focused on how non-monogamous couples retain such sexual chemistry. In an attempt to bridge the gap in literature, this study aims to interview couples in long term, non-monogamous relationships in order to uncover how they have successfully maintained satisfaction in sexual interactions.

## **Chapter II: Literature Review**

#### **Sexual Satisfaction**

What is Sexual Satisfaction. Hinchliff and Goff (2004) found that throughout long-term romantic relationships, sexual activity is constantly an important aspect of the couple's life, and according to Noland (2020), individuals who aim to sexually please their partner have more satisfied and committed partners. When defining sexual satisfaction, Pascoal et al. (2013) looked at the public to hear their thoughts. Generally, sexual satisfaction was defined in terms of one's sexual experience regarding positive emotions, orgasm, sexual arousal, pleasure and desire, however there were other interesting definitions. For some people, frequency of sexual activity may play a role in their sexual satisfaction, for others it may come from mutual pleasure. Some defined sexual satisfaction in terms of a romantic relationship, including the closeness of participants in a romantic relationship, frequency of sexual activity, and playful aspects of the sexual/romantic relationship (Pascoal et al., 2013).

Some people view pleasure in terms of committed relationships when it seems to be common knowledge that people have casual sex for fun and pleasure (Garcia et al., 2012). This is supported by data Mark et al. (2015) who found concerning how in casual sex scenarios, such as hookups or one-night stands, sexual satisfaction levels were higher than emotional satisfaction levels compared to committed romantic relationships, potentially because both parties are in it for the sexual enjoyment rather than emotional benefits. Vowels and Mark (2020) found that sexual desire (defined by Mark et al. (2014) as the sexual drive, wish or motive to achieve sexual intimacy) is the primary reason individuals partake in sexual activity, being an even stronger predictor for sexual activity than love is, which could support that people may have sexual relations outside of romantic relationships for the pleasure alone.

Vowels and Mark (2020) also found that sexual activity (which can be motivated by desire) can lead to increases in love and desire in committed relationships. This supports the idea that even though some may have sex for fun and casual pleasure, in relationships, sex, desire and love are all interconnected. Research has supported that relationship satisfaction and sexual satisfaction are inherently linked and many researchers have studied this association in some capacity (Byers, 2010; Mark et al., 2013; Mark & Jozkowski, 2013; Vowels & Mark, 2018). For instance, Mark and Jozkowski (2013) found that communication - both sexual and nonsexual forms - affect the link between relationship and sexual satisfaction, suggesting that communication plays a key role in overall relationship and sexual satisfaction. Another correlation studied was the connection of perceived sexual compatibility and sexual satisfaction, finding that perceived sexual compatibility is not only a noteworthy predictor of relationship satisfaction, but also influences and predicts sexual satisfaction (Mark et al., 2013). In fact, even if a couple isn't completely compatible in specific turn-ons and turns-offs yet both parties perceive themselves to be compatible, this does not impact the relationship's sexual satisfaction levels (Mark et al., 2013).

Couples sharing a sexual experience with one another is a beautiful display of love. When one is in a satisfying romantic relationship, it will often lead to an increased satisfaction in the sexual relationship they share (Mark & Jozkowski, 2013) and often when one partner in the relationship is satisfied sexually and romantically, so is the other partner (Mark et al., 2013). These findings suggest how powerful the bond of sexual and relationship satisfaction can be and how vital sexual relations are in terms of romantic and committed relationships and reinforce the importance of sexual connections in romance and love.

Pleasure in Sexuality. Another critical element to sexual satisfaction is the role of pleasure in a sexual relationship. Sexual pleasure is not solely tied to orgasms, however that can often be an important aspect of it and is often an expectation of sexual interactions (Goldey et al., 2016; Opperman et al., 2014). With this expectation comes pressure to perform or experience pleasure in a particular way. Watson, Séguin et al. (2016) found that when incorporating a vibrator into sex, men reported increased pleasure for both partners as well as a release of pressure on the men to perform or provide their partners with orgasms. On the other side, often women may feel pressure to have orgasms during sexual intercourse and often relieved this stress through faking orgasms (Opperman et al., 2014), and women reported feeling pressure to perform a certain way during sexual interactions which often took away from pleasure they could have experienced with less stress (Elmerstig et al., 2012). These studies support that not only are pressures and expectations present for individuals regardless of the genitalia their bodies have, but also the idea of orgasms being essential for sexual pleasure as a harmful ideology and therefore could be limiting the sexual experiences of many.

Pleasure is much more than the presence of orgasms and penetration, though.

Additionally, pleasure in sexual interactions is multifaceted, it encompasses the physical, emotional and cognitive experiences of those involved as well as contextual factors that may impact pleasure (Goldey et al., 2016). For instance, in partnered sex, having control over someone else's pleasure seems to be a turn on for both men and women, and often one partners sexual enjoyment depends on the sexual enjoyment of the other partner, exemplifying that sexual pleasure can extend further than one's own pleasure and one's own potential orgasm (Goldy et al., 2016; Opperman et al., 2014; Watson et al., 2016). Additionally, pleasure can be found through foreplay including, but not limited to, oral sex, "talking dirty" to one another, and

manual genital stimulation which includes location of touch, pressure, pattern and shape of touch - all of which can be altered for different needs (Frederick et al., 2017; Herbenick et al., 2017). Herbenick et al. (2017) found that women report higher levels of sexual satisfaction during intercourse when the clitoris is stimulated simultaneously, further exemplifying that sexual exploration, creativity, and purposeful touch can enhance sexual experiences. In terms of emotional and contextual aspects of pleasure, research has shown that commitment and length of relationship directly correlate with higher levels of sexual pleasure and satisfaction (Milstein et al., 2019), the use of water and silicone-based lubricant resulting in high levels of sexual pleasure and satisfaction (Herbenick et al., 2011), well as sexual communication having a direct influence on sexual satisfaction (Babin, 2013). Pleasure is achieved through a variety of ways, and is often high priority for partners, however the stigma and shame that encompasses sexuality may impact one's ability to receive pleasure.

## Stigma Around Sexuality, Limiting Pleasure

Sexuality is a taboo topic and has been shamed one way or another by society for centuries (Grossman et al., 2016; Jackson, 2016; Robertson, 2019). For example, Corn Flakes and Graham Crackers were created by Reverend Sylvester Graham and John Harvey Kellogg to decrease sex drive (Butler, 2018). Both Americans believed that fatty foods, meat and flavorful foods increased a person's sex drive and therefore should be avoided (Butler, 2018). Kellogg believed that masturbation was an incredible sin, however if a person indulged in plain, flavorless food and less food with spices, etc. that their sex drive would decrease therefore leading to less of an urge to masturbate. Kellogg believed this so whole-heartedly, he even advertised the food as a "healthy, ready-to-eat anti-masturbatory morning meal" (Foster, 2019, p. 1). There are many stereotypes concerning sexuality that differ from Kellogg's views, such as the

stereotype that women have lower libido than men, and that women who have high libido or men who have low libido are atypical (Mark & Lasslo, 2018). However, it has been shown that these assumptions cannot be made based on gender. In fact, research has shown that there are more libido differences within each gender (i.e., females compared to females, males compared to males) than between the binary genders (i.e., males compared to females) (Ferreira et al., 2014; Mark 2015). The stigma around women's sexuality still prevails and negatively impacts women.

Slut-shaming, described as "the stigmatization of an individual based on of his or her appearance, sexual availability, and actual or perceived sexual behavior and is primarily aimed at women and girls" (Goblet & Glowacz, 2021, p. 1), is considered a form of violence primarily used against women that impacts the victim's health (e.g. depressive affects) (Goblet & Glowacz, 2021). Due to the repercussions of being slut-shamed, female-identifying people may often avoid certain behaviors or activities, even relating to sexual health, to prevent such violence. For example, girls and women are often afraid to have condoms in their possession due to the fear of being slut-shamed for participating in such behaviors (Bell, 2009). This fear and stigma around condoms are not just for women, though. Reeves et al. (2016) found that the shame and stigma surrounding sex has prevented or impacted male and female individuals' need for condoms to participate in safe sex, however attaining condoms can lead to such embarrassment that some may not do it at all. This is especially true in small towns where it is hard to purchase such items while feeling this interaction is confidential, or without seeing someone who they have connections with one way or another (Bell, 2009).

Not only are condoms stigmatized and the topic of sex taboo, but Kunter et al. (2020) found that many men who have sex with men (MSM) feel stigma and shame around their sexual behaviors, which often leads to the feeling of isolation from the stigma (feeling like they are the

only one who feels this way). Stigma and shame can be perpetuated from many sources-from medical professionals when they are uncomfortable with the discussion of anal sex (as this can be picked up from the patient) (Kunter et al., 2020), to heterosexist discrimination within families (Rosenkrantz et al., 2018). There is even shame within these communities themselves, for instance there is often bottom shaming within the MSM community, using slurs such as ""used goods," "trash," "such a bottom," whore" and someone to "watch your man around."" (Kunter et al., 2020, p. 5). These comments perpetuate stigma and shame men may feel around their sexual behaviors, as well as feeling as though they are alone in these feelings (Kunter et al., 2020). These are some of many examples that portray the shame and stigma around sexuality built inherently into and perpetuated by the American culture.

Sociocultural Factors. Sociocultural factors play a role in stigma around sex as well as culture. Rosenkrantz et al. (2018) studied the impact of sociocultural factors on women's sexual desire, sampling women from different races and sexual orientations. They found that many sociocultural factors, including pressure to conform to heterosexuality, gender role expectations, religion and sexuality as taboo, all decreased a women's sexual desire, whereas having a safe space to express desires and being exposed to openness to sexual diversity over time increased sexual desire. Along with these findings, they also uncovered how discrimination and invalidation of sexuality negatively impacted women, particularly those who identify as bisexual and racial minorities. The findings of this study suggest that this group of women especially struggle with sexual desires due to sociocultural factors. Supporting this, Newton-Levinson et al. (2014) found through their study, which focused on widowed/divorced women in Ethiopia, that participants were afraid of being seen as hyper-sexualized beings, afraid to interact with men in public, and the sexualities of these women were often policed and judged by the other women in

their community. This continues to show the cultural impacts on how sexuality is perceived and managed. In another, cross-cultural study, Schalet (2010) compared Dutch and American girls' relationships regarding their experiences of sexuality. The study found that while American girls often keep their roles as sexual beings separate from their roles as daughters, Dutch girls were able to reconcile the two. It also discussed the role of adults and culture in the girls' lives, finding that American girls experience more doubt in whether they were secure enough in their relationship to legitimate sexual activity whereas Dutch girls are believed to be able to fall in love and hold solid sexual relationships. This is important to note when looking at the American culture surrounding sexuality and how adults view teen's sexuality, particularly in terms of females.

# Formal Sex Education: One Arena Where the Stigma Emerges

Much of the stigma around sexuality emerges with our formal education. Sexual education has varied throughout history moving from a beautiful depiction of sexuality through art as displayed in museums, such as the Erotic Heritage Museum in Las Vegas or the Museum of Sex in New York, and in books such as the *Kama Sutra* (Vātsyāyana, 1963) and *Bonk* (Roach, 2008), towards a more formalized, modern version we see in schools today. The art displayed in museums and books worldwide exemplifies that for centuries there has been more than one way of engaging in intercourse. These perceptions of sexuality identify the beauty of the body, the enjoyment of sex, the 'fun' side of sexuality and helps the audience receive messages that sex is not just for reproduction.

American Sex Education. The formal sexual education we see in American schools today tend to vary within three different approaches: Abstinence Only Until Marriage (AOUM), Abstinence-Plus Education (APE) and Comprehensive Sex Education (CSE). AOUM has

multiple names depending on who is providing the program; it could be called sexual risk avoidance (SRA), abstinence only education (AOE), or abstinence-centered education (ACE) (Planned Parenthood, 2020); however, they all teach the same concept funded by the government: abstinence is the way to manage one's sexuality (Clark & Stitzlein, 2016; Duffy et al., 2008). The majority of Americans do not support AOUM programs; however, politicians heavily support and promote these courses (Clark & Stitzlein, 2016). In attempt to persuade youth to postpone intercourse until marriage, AOUM programs often make note of the idea that women in particular are "used up" if they have participated in sex outside of marriage. This approach is extremely harmful in many ways, but especially towards people who have been sexually assaulted who did not choose when or how their first sexual relationship happened (Mintz, 2019). Not only does AOUM have the potential to harm individuals through the way certain topics are discussed (Culp-Ressler, 2014; Lamb et al., 2011), but they also largely omit topics that would include sexual minorities, LGBTQ+ individuals, pregnant and/or parenting youth, as well as survivors of sexual assault/violence (Society for Adolescent Health and Medicine, 2017). This results in many curricula being heterosexist and omitting discussion around non-heterosexual pleasures (Lamb, et al., 2013).

Lack of discussion around different forms of sex and sexual minorities results in many individuals looking for information from other sources. There is a lack of discourse surrounding anal sexual behaviors in sexual education, which, combined with stigma, makes it extremely difficult for students to ask questions about anal behavior (Kutner et al., 2020). Mark et al. (2018) supports this idea finding that gay men are more influenced by peers than straight men, perhaps because of the often heteronormative sexual education which forces some individuals to find the information they need elsewhere, which may in turn lead to misinformation (Kunter et

al., 2020). American leaders have begun to intervene with the sexual education today's youth receives, however this is done through funding AOUM programs which has been shown to be significantly less effective than CSE (Society for Adolescent Health and Medicine, 2017). While the United States government is trying to engage in sexual education, we still have more work to do, potentially beginning with passing federal legislation to dictate how sexual education is taught in schools.

The level of stigma and discomfort around sex and pleasure is widely present in formal sex education programs, so much so that even on the Department of Education site there is no mention of sexual education (Department of Education, 2020), perhaps because there are no federal laws dictating how sex education should be taught. Decisions about sex education in public schools are made at a state and local level instead of federal - meaning no federal laws dictate what sex education should look like (Stidham Hall et al., 2016). The result of this legislation being developed at state levels is an inconsistent formal education across America.

Laws Surrounding Sex Education. Currently, 29 states and the District of Columbia require sex education to be taught in public schools. Additionally, a different set of twenty-nine states require abstinence-only to be heavily stressed and only twenty states and the District of Columbia mandate sex education to include forms of contraception. Seventeen states out of 50 and the District of Columbia require that any sexual education taught must be medically accurate - to simplify, this alludes to the fact that thirty-three states and the District of Columbia likely provide sexual education that is all together not accurate (Rowe, 2020). Schools have done a great job of working with their limited budgets and mandates to provide a certain curriculum. Still, there is a dearth in the discourse around pleasure and sex positivity in formal sex education in the United States and a dearth in research surrounding how the lack of sexual pleasure and sex

positivity in formal education may impact how people experience pleasure later in life. While sexual pleasure is a significant reason why people partake in sexual activity, and to leave this out is doing a disservice to today's youth, AOE excludes pleasure and desire from education completely, using other tactics to deter youth from sexual behaviors (Hirst, 2013), leading to often unintended consequences for leaving out sex positive information.

Pleasure in Sex Education. A common fear of discussing pleasure is giving youth the idea and incentive to partake in such activities, or some argue that pleasure and desire need not be included in sex education because they will find out sex is pleasurable for themselves eventually, while others argue that pleasure is apparent enough in today's media that it doesn't need to be discussed in sex education (Lamb et al., 2013). However, research has shown sex education that discusses sexual desire allows for adolescents to learn and develop strong, healthy values surrounding their sexuality which can impact their future relationships for decades to come and stresses importance of comprehensive sex education as an influence of sexual functioning later in life, while inaccurate forms of sex education could potentially impact a person's ability to have a sexually satisfied relationship with their partner later in life (Mark et al., 2018).

Lamb et al. (2013) found that this discourse isn't fully missing from sex education, noting that both CSE and AOUM programs discuss it in one way or another. Lamb et al. (2013) also found there are three distinct methods of discussing pleasure in sexual education: health and knowing one's body, problematic pleasure, and positive pleasure. Most of this discourse links pleasure and desire to danger/risk and negative outcomes through means of describing it as uncontrollable, causing emotional and physical risks and desire as peer pressure, for instance. This method of linking harm to sexuality reinforces the stigma and shame that the American

culture links to sexuality - "if one gets carried away, enjoys sex with abandon, or seeks out sexual pleasure, harm will come" (Lamb et al., 2013, p. 316).

Regardless of incorporating pleasure in sex education, adolescents are likely to partake in said behavior nonetheless, with most US individuals having sex for the first time at age 18 (Rowe, 2020). It is important to discuss consent and negotiation in formal sex education in a positive way to bridge the gap between the positive and negative aspects of desire and pleasure while raising awareness of possible sexual assault/abuse as well (Cameron-Lewis et al., 2013). Additionally, if pleasure as part of a sexual experience is left out of the conversation surrounding sex and risk avoidance, a key aspect of how to delay sex and avoid STIs is left out - nonpenetrative sexual activities. Solo masturbation and mutual masturbation are ways to attain sexual pleasure without risking STIs and pregnancy (Ingham, 2005). Philpott et al. (2006) discovered that discussing sexual risk reduction methods such as condoms in terms of sexual pleasure would in turn increase an individual's probability at practicing safe sex. Condoms are inherently thought to reduce pleasure, but if it was taught how to use condoms properly while increasing pleasure (i.e., incorporating water-based lubricant), there would likely be more use. Bell (2009) found many barriers to condom use and condom retention additional to pleasure, such as embarrassment. Embarrassment has many levels when it comes to condoms: one being the embarrassment that comes with purchasing condoms and the belief that you are being judged while checking out, another being the fear of discussing condom use with partners and lastly the fear of not using it correctly (Bell, 2009). It is likely that CSE, which includes condom demonstrations and discussions on how to talk to partners about condoms (Planned Parenthood, 2014), would empower and give students confidence in these identified forms of embarrassment and barriers.

Sex Positivity. These topics could be discussed in a sex positive way; however, this is lacking in formal education. Sex positivity is defined in a different manner depending on who you ask (Kaplan, 2014), however, Williams et al. (2013) defined it as normalizing the exploration of sexual desire. Sex positivity is often conceptualized as a normal experience with an outlook that incorporates openness, nonjudgment, and exclusive of negative sexual attitudes (Cruz et al., 2017; Donaghue, 2015) as well as including an understanding of sexual diversity that focuses not only sexual orientation but also the vast variety of sexual behaviors and identities (Burnes et al., 2017).

Research has shown that incorporating sex positivity in sexual education allows for individuals to not only express their sexuality to their partner, but also become more accepting of it themselves (Mark et al., 2018). Many believe that if sex positive education were to be more present in schools, the quality of sexual education would increase, communities would better be able to prevent child sexual abuse, and marriages would improve (Ivanski & Kohut, 2017; Cameron-Lewis, 2013). Alfred Kinsey and Robert Latou Dickenson support the latter, believing that bad sex led to a marriage's failure (Gathorne-Hardy, 2000; Roach, 2008;). Sex positive education is beneficial to those who receive it, and contrary to common belief, includes abstinence as a legitimate and respectable choice, while still informing students on other choices.

# Informal Sex Education: Another Arena Where Stigma around Pleasure Emerges

**Discussions of Sex at Home**. Like formal education, informal education around sex may also predispose someone to negative beliefs about sex. Informal methods of sexual education are plentiful, ranging from discussions with peers to portrayals in media. Another example of informal education is parental figures talking about sexuality with their children. Not all parents discuss sexuality with their children, citing that such a discussion may be uncomfortable and

awkward (Grossman et al., 2016). Research has shown if the parent never received informal sex education from their own parents as a child, they may not have the experience to know how to do so with their kids and therefore may not have the talk themselves or may struggle to do so. On the other hand, such an experience may inspire the parent to change and not handle it the way their parents did (Eastman et al., 2005; Grossman et al., 2016). Not only can this conversation be uncomfortable for the parent but also for the children present, however, often times the parent's demeanor can positively (or the less ideal, negatively) impact their child's experience discussing sex with them. Afifi et al. (2008) found that the children of parents who were causal, receptive and composed during conversations about sex were less anxious and less avoidant of these types of conversations. Topics discussed informally at home could vary from the topics discussed formally. For example, Abrego (2011) found that religion impacts which sexuality topics parents are willing to discuss at home with their teens. Additionally, parents who had children when they were adolescents use their own personal experiences to aid them while having the sex talk with their kids more than parents who had children when they were older. These individuals who became parents as adolescents also encourage waiting until certain milestones are achieved (finishing school, getting married, etc.) while the older parents tend to focus more on emotional readiness and relational development (Grossman et al., 2016). Another study found that parents are more likely to discuss particular sexual topics (e.g., desire, satisfaction, pornography, masturbation, etc.) if they believed their child would engage in sexual behaviors at a younger age (Abrego, 2011).

**Media's Role in Sexual Pleasure**. A potential cause for how and why some may believe sexuality should be suppressed perhaps stems from media (music videos, television shows, movies, etc.) and the influence it has on adolescents' sexual values and behavior. The messages

around sex configured by the media are formulated through a societal lens of culture, religion, racism and sexism and often depict unrealistic expectations of romance and sexuality (McGoldrick et al., 2007). An adolescent who observes sexual behaviors in the media has an increased likelihood of participating in such acts and have increased intentions to partake in the future (Fisher et al., 2009). Mark et al. (2018) found that the media plays a large role in adolescent's development of sexual values, particularly in males, which continues to impact their sexual satisfaction for decades.

Along with this, there is an increase in amounts of sexuality being portrayed and a continued popularity of these depictions being shown in media, all the while it is rare to find examples of responsible sexuality and in turn reinforces a particular set of sexual and relationship societal norms (Brown, 2002; McGoldrick et al., 2007). In fact, there are consistencies with television portraying sex in a particular way, most of which includes positive gains from participating in sexual behaviors, while any negatives shown tend to focus on the long-lasting emotional pain that sexual activity can cause (Eyal et al., 2009).

As mentioned above, sexuality is portrayed on many media platforms, including music videos, access to particular Internet content, and social media. Most of these portrayals display sex in a heterosexist and sexist way (Dines, 2010). This is through various means, such as sexually objectifying women with, for instance, female artists being held to higher appearance standards and demonstrating more sexually alluring behavior than males (Aubrey et al., 2011). This feeds into the mixed information American society provides women with, perhaps they are to be sexual in nature while not being sexually active. On one hand we have women being sexualized all over the media, and on the other hand we have AOUM programs who often preach what can be taken as slut-shaming content (Culp-Ressler, 2014).

#### **Benefits of Sex Positive Education**

Sex and sexuality may sometimes be shown as normal and natural human behavior, but occasionally when this is the case in America, it is framed in terms of needing to be held moderation and controlled (Stephens, 2010). The interpretation of sexuality stems from one's individual experiences, as one's view of sexuality is heavily influenced by sociocultural factors and often these interpretations and attitudes surrounding sexuality differ between various sociocultural groups (Hall & Graham, 2012).

**Normalization of Sexuality**. The normalization of sex and incorporation of pleasure, however, is important in addressing dysfunction in relationships. It can promote healthy sexual functioning by normalizing and supporting attaining sexual health services and can allow for those to continually manage their sexual health throughout their life (Ford et al., 2013). The study at hand, for example, could incorporate discussions of normalizing sexuality by the researchers could ask couples to describe what it was like to be in this study, potentially helping the topic be less taboo.

One way of normalizing pleasure in sexuality is through making the conversations around it less taboo and creating positive interactions and underlying tones, as it can be very obvious when a person holds negative attitudes/perceptions of sexuality compared to sex positive approaches, particularly due to the language a person uses (Cruz et al., 2017). De-pathologizing certain sexual behaviors in education settings could remove the stigma and abnormalities that surround sexuality. Coleman et al. (2018) suggest pathologizing sexual activity not by the behavior itself, but rather by the consequences that come from it. This ideology could open up conversations in formal and informal settings to be less intimidating.

Benefits of Sex Positive Trainings. Additionally, sex education could promote sex positivity and normalize sexuality through sex positive trainings (Burnes, Singh & Witherspoon, 2017). Incorporating sex-positivity in mindfulness models and biopsychosocial assessments could be extremely beneficial and improve the comfort people have surrounding the discussion of sexuality (Dodd & Katz, 2020; Kimmes et al., 2015). Not only could mindfulness aid in the comfort level of discussions, but potentially could have positive repercussions on the act itself. The ability to stay focused on the present moment and perceived pleasure is an important aspect of sexual well-being (L'Abate & Hewitt, 2013; Lazaridou & Kalogianni, 2013).

Sex positive trainings in collaboration with mindfulness could look like the inclusion of education on understanding one's own body and what is pleasurable for them and where they feel pleasure. Additionally, research has shown that sex positive messages in education settings are more believable and taken more seriously than sex negative information, potentially due to lack of judgment/opinion-based statements (Brickman & Willoughby, 2017).

May Highlight the Use of Erotica as a Tool for Communicating Positivity. Erotica is one manner of communicating sex positivity in relationships rather than formal education and could also be used to normalize sexual experiences and sexuality. Erotica has existed for centuries and serves as a function for people who utilize it. For instance, erotica is *fun*. Sex is more than just a method of procreation, it is a way for people to get enjoyment from something that is natural, as sexual pleasure is a major factor in human sexuality (Georgiadis et al., 2012). This is heavily supported in literature, for instance, in terms of masturbation. Many people achieve sexual pleasure through means of solo sex, with Fahs et al. (2013) finding 90% of the women in their study used sex toys either during masturbation or partnered sex, or both. Erotica is not just fun in terms of solo sex, but also could be used to enhance sexual satisfaction in

couples through visual stimulation. While research has suggested that women are less easily aroused by sexual stimuli than men (Mark et al., 2013), Maddox et al. (2011) found that couples who only watched sexually explicit material together had higher satisfaction and dedication in their relationship than a couple who viewed this material alone, without their partner. However, Staley and Prause (2012) support the idea that watching sexually explicit material with a partner, or alone, may not always have purely positive outcomes or may result in mixed feelings. It heavily depends on the person and their own life experiences (someone who experienced sexual trauma may have mixed feelings of positive emotions towards their partner while having negative emotions associated with the film).

Erotica is considered by many to be *educational*. While pornography is not the best education tool due to the often lack of conversation around consent, teaching relationship and negotiation skills and the performative nature of pornography, many people might look to porn as to learn how to have sex (Hancock et al., 2018). Erotic literature can open the eyes of readers of how to communicate their needs to their partner and new acts they want to try out all the while fulfilling fantasies (Noland, 2020).

Erotica can be *advantageous* to couples' relationships. Hertlein et al. (2020) support this idea through finding that couples who watch pornography together had "overwhelmingly positive" (p. 5) effects on the relationship, including the following six aspects: a) provided practice for negotiation, b) aided to a natural segue in continued conversation and activities, c) made a taboo topic more comfortable to participate in, d) higher levels of communication, e) cultivated an environment that was more lighthearted around this topic, and finally f) initiated a new bonding experience with the couple. Participants of this study reported an improvement in the communication in the relationship as well as higher levels of sexual satisfaction. Kohut et al.

(2018) also published research that exemplifies the use of erotica, particularly pornography, as a positive aspect in romantic relationships finding that a couples' frequency of watching porn together was positively associated with both the openness of sexual communication and closeness in the relationship. Further research has contributed to this phenomenon of erotica inspiring positivity in romantic relationships through various means (Kohut et al., 2017a; 2017b).

# **Ethical Non-Monogamy**

Consensual non-monogamy – those words strung together can make many people feel uncomfortable. Consensual non-monogamy, also known as ethical non-monogamy (ENM) is defined as a "broad range of relationships in which all individuals in the relationship agree to engage in multiple sexual, romantic, and/or emotional relationships with others" (Matsick et al., 2014, p. 1). Ethical non-monogamy and people who are part of this culture are often viewed in a less positive light compared to monogamous people (Conley et al., 2012; Grunt-Mejer & Campbell, 2016; Matsick et al., 2014), perhaps this is due to the societal norms that press monogamy as the only valid relationship orientation between two people who are in love, or due to the fact that ENM relationships are considered to be less committal (Barker, 2005), trustworthy (Ritchie & Barker, 2006) and of less sexual satisfaction (Conley et al., 2013) than their monogamous counterparts, even though research has shown that ENM individuals report their relationship as containing more happiness (Fleckenstein & Cox, 2015), higher levels of intimacy and higher levels of trust (Morrison et al., 2013) than monogamous couples who also participated in these studies.

Monogamy is still the most cost common relationship orientation among North

Americans and is often thought to ensure more satisfaction in romantic relationships than ENM relationships. Meanwhile, ENM is becoming more common in American society (Haupert et al.,

2017) with roughly 4-5% of Americans participating in some form of ENM relationship. Research has found that there is no significant difference in relationship and sexual satisfaction among monogamous and non-monogamous relationships (Conley, Piemonte et al., 2018; Conley et al., 2012), however, one study founded that monogamous individuals report slightly lower sexual satisfaction and lower rates of orgasms than ENM individuals (Conley, Piemonte, et al., 2018). Regardless of these studies reporting little to no difference in sexual satisfaction between relationship orientations, it is commonly thought that couples who are non-monogamous are partaking in such behaviors due to being unsatisfied with their current relationship, whether that be sexually or otherwise, or due to no longer being attracted to their partner (Conley et al., 2012; Easton & Hardy, 2011; Moors et al., 2012). Rather than participating in ENM for the reasons commonly assumed by society, research has shown that ENM individuals report a significant advantage in opening up the relationship is to actually improve upon their sexual fulfilment, and allowing the partners to partake in sexual behaviors and exploration that perhaps the partner they are with is not interested in exploring (de Visser & McDonald, 2007; Kimberly & Hans, 2015). Through these studies, it may be presumed that couples explore ENM to enhance both romantic and sexual satisfaction.

# **Systems Theory**

In marriage and family therapy, the idea of systems theory plays an important role in the way in which a marriage and family therapist (MFT) may approach their work with a client.

Becvar and Becvar (2018) describe the notion of a system as "an invention which is used to describe regularities or redundant patterns we observe between people and other phenomena" (p. 4). In terms of conceptualizing clients in a therapy setting, the systems perspective allows the therapist to analyze not just the individual sitting in front of the therapist, but this person in terms

of their networks and systems they surround themselves with (i.e., family, friends, roommates, work setting, etc.) and the relationship between the systems. Through this lens, the therapist shifts from a linear perspective (A causes B) to a circular notion of both mutually impacting each other (A causes B, which causes A, which causes B, etc.), which allows MFT's to treat the system rather than merely the individual sitting in front of them (Becvar & Becvar, 2018). Systems theory is complex and intricate with many moving parts. The idea of homeostasis – "the construct that describes a system's tendency toward stability or steady state" (Becvar and Becvar, 2018, p. 18) – plays an important rule in conceptualizing a case, as systems tend to veer towards their "normal" regardless of how efficient or healthy that is, they tend to stay towards what is comfortable (Becvar & Becvar, 2018). This leads into the idea of morphostasis (a system's ability to return to a stable state after any disturbance) and morphogenesis (a system's ability to change and grow along rather than return to homeostasis), as well as open systems (the acceptance of input from members within the system or from the outside, allowing for change) and closed systems (being closed off to the input from members of the system or outside the system, not accepting change) which are all essential terms within the systems world. While the discussion surrounding terms within systems theory could continue, it is relevant to the current study in terms of application in the therapy room. An MFT is looking not just to change the behavior of one individual within a system, rather they are looking to alter the system itself to create an equal balance between concepts such as morphostasis and morphogenesis, as well as being open and closed systems, allowing for the system to change and grow in a health manner. "A basic rule, from the systems perspective, is that as long as the relationship system keeps interacting around a problem, the problem will be maintained" (Becvar & Becvar, 2018, p. 76).

# **Purpose of the Study**

The purpose of this study is to understand what sexual and romantic behaviors contribute to the sexual satisfaction in long-term, non-monogamous partners within a couple. Specifically, we are interested in the contribution of the use of erotic material, ways in which a couple show love with one another outside of sexual interaction as well as a couple's perspective on the valence of sexuality (whether it is viewed positively or negatively) as a way to understand their level of sexual satisfaction. As noted, research has been done showing how vital sexuality is in romantic relationships and some have even suggested particular behaviors to partake in, however no studies have researched how long-term relationships keep high levels of sexual satisfaction, particularly in non-monogamous couples. The author met with individuals in non-monogamous relationships to discuss the most intimate part of their lives and relationships to gather such information.

## **Chapter III: Method**

# **Participants**

We conducted interviews with 24 couples who are in a committed, non-monogamous romantic relationship of at least 7 years, are at least 25 years of age and are healthy (i.e., of sound mind) individuals. The majority of participants were white, heterosexual and in their 30's. For additional demographic information, please see Appendix D, Table 1 and Table 2. Participants were recruited through convenience by use of flyers shared online via social media and email, and by use of the snowball method in which participants are asked to pass along potential couples who may be interested. All participants were North American residents.

# Philosophy, Design and Procedure

Given the exploratory nature of this study, the qualitative design of the study allowed for individual interviews of participants aimed at gaining insight into sexual satisfaction and sexual behavior of the participants to further understand how long-term sexual satisfaction in non-monogamous relationships is achieved. To examine the phenomena of long-term sexual satisfaction in these relationships the author has employed a phenomenology philosophy to this research. Cohen et al. (2007) depicted phenomenology as a conception that focuses on the individual human experience, as reality is subjective and formed individually throughout our lived experiences, and views this subjective experience as vital to understanding human behavior and individual realities, apart from the objective physical view of the world that is externally happening around people. Van Manen (1990) discusses how this philosophy focuses on a researcher's desire to understand what particular experiences are like for individuals through obtaining in depth descriptions of participant's experiences. Through this, researchers are able to gain information of each participant's construction of their reality and thus their perception of

lived experiences- regardless of whether this is tangibly quantifiable or subjectivity experienced, it is of importance when following the philosophy of phenomenology (Van Manen, 1990).

Aligning with Cohen et al. and van Manen's views of phenomenology guiding this research, this study was designed to gain insight into the subjective experience of sexual satisfaction among couples who have been together for seven or more years and identify as non-monogamous. To achieve this understanding, the author determined phenomenology is the most efficient and holistic way to get participant's perspectives in these interviews.

The author chose qualitative individuals interviews as the primary methodology to gather data due to the holistic manner in which data can be obtained through participants sharing personal experiences unrestricted. This method allows the researcher to obtain in-depth information from participants that otherwise would not be provided and capture the participants' viewpoint through their understanding and experience rather than through the author's lens. Virginia Tech (2018) supports this idea and states that interviews are best used to collect in-depth information to allow for the interviewer to understand the participant's experiences, behavior, opinions, etc. Along with gathering information, the author kept a research journal to, for instance, write down thoughts after interviews, etc. The author chose qualitative data collection to form a comfortable space for the participants to share and a professional relationship with the participants versus the participants working in their own environment without having spoken to the researcher. This may have allowed for the participants to feel more comfortable sharing more intimate parts of their relationship. The interviews were conducted with both partners in the couple together, talking with both individuals at the same time to compare data between couples. Prior to the interviews, each participant within the couple completed a demographic form

(Appendix B) individually. The couples each received a ten-dollar incentive in the form of a gift card for their time.

**Interviews.** Participants were recruited to participate in interviews through flyers shared electronically through social media, email, and word of mouth. The interviews were held over a HIPAA compliant Zoom® video call. Archibald et al. (2019) experienced high satisfaction levels with utilizing Zoom indicating that this is a valid method to collect qualitative data. This study also found that overcoming technical difficulties together, as in researcher and participant working together, likely facilitates rapport building. This is supported by Deakin and Wakefield (2014) and Tuttas (2015) who found that participants responding via online video platforms similar to zoom have been found to be more responsive and build rapport quicker than face to face participants. Archibald et al. (2019) suggested researchers create an instruction sheet to send to participants to help decrease levels of technical difficulties, even though they have supported Zoom as a user-friendly platform, therefore appropriate for a wide range of participants. These interviews, with both partners present at the time of the interviews, were conducted by the author, a graduate student in the Couple and Family Therapy Program at UNLV with approximately 60 minutes dedicated to each couple. As stated, demographic data was collected prior to the interviews.

#### Instrumentation

We utilized a demographic survey which each participant in the couple completed prior to the interview and in the interviews, we asked open-ended questions. In order to achieve rigor, the researchers triangulated the data through having multiple researchers, therefore multiple perspectives, interpret data. We achieved transferability through use of thick, rich descriptions of data. Dependability was reached through use of triangulation, code-recode strategies, through

interviews being recorded and transcribed by researchers and a third party. Credibility is attained through member checks with of 3 couples (both partners in each couple) participating. We are currently in the process of attaining these member checks, however they have yet to be finalized.

In analyzing data, we utilized thematic analysis' six phases of analysis as discussed in Braun and Clark (2006). First, the data was transcribed by a graduate student and both authors then familiarized themselves with the data through reading and re-reading the interviews. Second, the initial coding of the data began - the term coding refers to the researcher identifying stand-out points that emerged in the interviews. Third, codes were combined allowing for the emergence of themes in the data. In the fourth phase, the data was reanalyzed and compared by each researcher to confirm each identified theme. Fifth, the researchers defined the themes and compare each to the other, making sure that none are similar enough to create overlap, as well as identifying subthemes (a theme within a theme). Finally, researchers wrote a report on the findings of the study.

# **Chapter IV: Findings**

The goal of this study was to understand what sexual and romantic behaviors contribute to the sexual satisfaction in long-term, non-monogamous couples. Specifically, we were interested in the contribution of the use of erotic material, ways in which a couple show love with one another outside of sexual interactions, as well as a couple's perspective on the valence of sexuality (whether it is viewed positively or negatively) to understand contributors to sexual satisfaction. Results will be presenting through the three research questions: (1) use of erotic material, (2) showing love, and (3) valence of sexuality.

#### **Use of Erotic Material**

Novelty. One of the most common themes reported by participants was an appreciation for new experiences and novelty. Many couples introduced novelty with their partner<sup>1</sup>, while others seek out new experiences with additional partners instead, and other couples reported a desire for novelty in both types of relationships. Through participant's responses, we have found that novelty encompasses a wide range of experiences, including erotic material such as: video pornography, erotic literature (written by participants and/or others), sharing of sexually explicit/suggesting images taken of themselves or others, social media (reddit/twitter/etc. as a way to find sexually stimulating material) sex toys and restraints, and non-monogamy. The aspects of non-monogamy which were reported as erotica for participants often related to the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> When using the term "partner" without further information, researcher is discussing the partner in which participant came to the interview with. Not all participants identified having primary partners, and for those who do use that language, not every couple who participated identified the partner they participated with to be their primary. Each participant has different terms they use to describe their relationship with each other and others. In effort to respect their unique relationships, we will refer to partners outside of relationship presented at the interview as "additional partners" or "companion" – which may be referring to a casual or serious relationship.

novelty of the experiences, such as telling their partner about an experience with a companion, sharing sexual stories from previous partners, dating new people, utilizing dating apps together as well as separate, having sex with additional partners and exploring kink with additional partners. Of these behaviors that contribute to NM as being viewed as novel and erotic, being able to have interactions with new people was a large aspect of pleasure. One participant concluded "I found that a lot of the fun of it is not the sex at all. A lot of the fun of it is, like, picking up the person at the bar." Another participant reported:

"I look at girls like Christmas presents. Meaning, like, you get to undress them once and open that present and if you rewrap the present and open it again, you know what it is. So, like a new experience of opening a new Christmas gift is very exciting."

To which the participant's partner agreed, but also expressed why continuing to be with a particular person may be beneficial:

"You can open these gifts that you know are going to be okay or you can play with this toy that's your favorite. That you know is going to satisfy you. I feel like sometimes it's nice to be with the same person because they know what you like or, you know, because it's always a good experience."

Many participants reported a similar experience, as many individuals prefer to have set additional partners rather than finding new companions each time, often reporting that finding new additional partners can be exhausting or emotionally draining, whereas having a consistent companion fits more into what they are looking for. Other couples reported a mixture of new and consistent companions, often stating that the most important part was to have their partner with them. As one participant put it:

"I like new experiences and the newness is exciting, and so trying new things together, having new adventures together, that's kind of how I see this whole nonmonogamy thing - as just being a new adventure to try together."

Not only is novelty important to most participants sexually, but also in general, day to day aspects of life. As one participant explained, "I definitely think it's an important framework to be open to life in general but also in sex." Novelty in their daily life, such as participating in new adventures or hobbies with their partner, often aided in their sexual and romantic connection according to participants. Many reported that the COVID-19 pandemic impacted their ability to experience novelty or even just entertainment in general, both with additional companions and within their relationship with their partner. Participants who reported this shift often claimed that at times it impacted their ability to connect with their partner sexually as well as emotionally whether it be a lack of personal/alone time or a lack of opportunity for novelty.

With novelty comes a form of acceptance and self-exploration. Through NM or other life experiences, many participants learned that their initial sexual education was limited and that there was more to sexuality than what they grew up having learned. One participant explained how a NM relationship aided in his exploration:

"It allowed me to go through a process to understanding that legitimately no matter what you're like or anything like that, there's someone out there that kind of fits into that in some way."

This is a common experience among participants, with several individuals and couples using NM to explore new sexual interests or behaviors that their partner isn't quite as interested in. Through this exploration, a shared experience was finding behaviors, circumstances, conditions, etc., that the individual is not a fan of, but a willingness to try it again in a new environment. For instance, one participant shared:

"If you try something new and don't like it, it might not be because you don't like that thing, you just didn't like that situation. So being open to trying it again to see if it was the situation, or the people, or whatever, is important to being open to new things."

While being open to new experiences, and an appreciation for novelty is often reported, so is the idea of having personal limits. For instance, some individuals know that they are uncomfortable with partaking in sexual activity with a companion in the same room as their partner, some may not want to know detailed descriptions of what happened with their partner's companions, or others have certain kinks or behaviors that they are uninterested in exploring with any partner - BDSM or pain play being two of the more common behaviors mentioned by participants.

Cultivating Life-long Learning. In considering the importance of self-exploration in congruence with limited knowledge on sex and sexuality, participants recognized the significance of life-long learning within their sexuality. Participants reported an overwhelming experience of education from childhood, particularly formal education, not positively impacting their sexual growth and discovery, if having any impact at all. Several participants shared their experience similar to that of one participant stating, "stunted growth is the result of my sexual education," and "formal education didn't really do much for me as far as forming my own sexuality" and another stating, "I think all the formal stuff did nothing but just contribute to like fear and misunderstanding, and shame in my case. Definitely did nothing positive in regard to shaping how to do things in a safe way." While several participants did have more positive educational experiences surrounding sex, this did not impact their desire to continue learning about their sexuality throughout life.

Participants reported continuous sex education throughout their sexual journey - particularly later in life and/or when they began their journey with NM - and an openness to

continue to learn. Through learning and developing sexually, personal growth is a common outcome that members of the study have experienced. One participant spoke of their partner's experience within NM, stating:

I mean you're really coming into your own I feel like, just even as a person in general. That's another reason why we wanted to do this, you know, personal growth is really cool to see.

Participants who reported not having inherently positive experiences with sexual education growing up, tend to report higher levels of positive outcomes as they have sought out their own informal education, whether that be through books, workshops, lived experiences or communal discussions. A participant who has shared this experience claimed, "growing up it was more sex negative, but it has only gotten more sex positive as I get older and learn." Many participants reported continuing their education formally as well as informally as they moved through their adult years. One of the most common and helpful methods of informal education reported by members of the study was experiential learning, learning through doing. Participants often described how their understanding of sexuality, both concerning their own development and sexual knowledge in general, was furthered by their sexual/romantic partners. One member of the study shared how her current partner played a role in her general understanding of sexuality, "[partner] taught me, you know we've been together since we were seventeen and eighteen and [partner] taught me more about my menstrual cycle and ovulation and the different phases." Another participant described how learning through different communities within sexuality - such as non-monogamy, kink based, etc. - has furthered their knowledge and understanding of sexuality:

That's been very helpful in terms of being okay with who I am and like a lot of the urges that I have like sexual or kinky and, you know, combined as well. That's probably been much better for me in terms of shaping sex in like a more natural, positive way.

The understanding that sexuality can be explored and developed at any stage in life appears to have a substantial impact on participant's sexual satisfaction by allowing them to create an ever-changing narrative surrounding their sexual pleasure as well as what their sexual and romantic needs entail.

Conjoint Learning. Throughout the exploration of ethical non-monogamy (ENM), a large portion of participants reported continuing to learn about sexuality not only on their own but learning with their partner or additional partners. This includes the exploration of sexual education as well as discovering individual wants, needs and desires, and how these connect to their partner's experience. Some participants shared how through joining communities and attending events, workshops or lectures together allowed them to not only further their individual knowledge, but to encourage that mutual growth and the evolution of the sexual/romantic journey they are on to develop together. A participant disclosed that with their partner, they attend a drinking/running group that often has educational conversations surrounding topics such as consent to further their education together, "you get a lot of those discussions when you go to [event] there is a huge element of that in any place where there is sex play going on." Another participant shares how they were able to grow in their own sexuality within their presenting relationships through learning and holding conversations with their partner:

I would say I don't think I really started to truly enjoy sexual interactions that I had until I

I would say I don't think I really started to truly enjoy sexual interactions that I had until I probably started being with [partner]. You know there were a few here and there but I still felt like I was wrong or naughty or dirty for just, yeah bad for enjoying any, any aspect of it. I think

since I started just like reading about non-monogamy and reading about, I don't know just relationship dynamics and then also experiencing them and talking with other people and reading blogs and what not I've just kind of like given myself space to acknowledge that part of me. Like, you know just room to like no that's actually pretty fucking normal and it's okay. Then there's just been this shift over to like no this is actually, this is actually where I want to be. And I don't feel quite as ashamed.

An additional couple within the study discussed how they sought out education as a unit:

Together we've done some really cool classes in [location], not that long ago ... there this group called [organization] that does really neat in person classes about eroticism and a little bit about kink and a little bit about BDSM.

This participant's partner added how they explore sexual education together even when it isn't a direct aspect of their relationship:

The [organization] they do workshops on kink and bondage and powerplay and those kinds of things. We did a session that was just a talk about powerplay about dom/sub relationships and we don't consider ourselves a dom/sub relationship it was something we were just curious about and then we went to one that was a very intro discussion about rope bondage which was really fun.

Even through individual learning, sharing these experiences with your partner allows them to understand and grow with you. One participant supported this idea through sharing that she had been working through sexual stigmas while in a relationship with her partner, "even after we met, I was still struggling with some of the internalized slut shaming." Another participant shared a similar experience and explained how personal growth shared with their partner positively impacts their relationship and allows for an environment to continue growing together:

We've been together a really long time, so we grew up together sexually ... but that shame that you know you would think, "oh you grew up with, you know, sexually with someone, you would get rid of that shame," but I really held onto it. So, I think that and now, now that everything's out and we're both very, very open with each other. I think it's strengthened our relationship like you could never break it.

Whether the education originates individually or conjointly, the sharing of this experience with their partner, the willingness and interest to learn as a team is plays an apparent role in participants' sexual satisfaction. The

## **Showing Love**

Love Languages. When asked how participants show love to their partner, day to day outside of sex, a common theme arose surrounding love languages (i.e., physical touch, acts of service, quality time, words of affirmation, and gift giving). The researcher found the discussion of love languages to be interesting, particularly because the researcher did not explicitly ask about love languages but rather displays of love. Participants frequently reported meeting their partner's needs for love through purposefully reaching their love languages, even when each partner receives and shows love differently. For example, one participant stated how two of her partner's love languages are different than hers, and how she purposefully seeks out opportunities to show affection in those ways:

We're very active considering each other's love languages, trying to give and receive both appropriately within those love languages. So, you know, for you I try to do the words of affirmation and quality time.

In respect to how they show love, one participant stated, "we really try to focus on understanding each other's love languages and helping each other out with that." Another participant declared

how important love languages are in their relationship, stating, "we explore things like love languages and try to keep them in mind." This has been shown to be an extremely important display of love for relationships in the current study. Participants report meeting the love languages of their partner through methods such as cuddling, hugging, kissing, helping each other with chores such as dishes or laundry, getting a meaningful and individualized gift for their partner, spending purposeful time together where they are each other's only focus, complimenting each other, saying "I love you," and many more. For example, one participant shared how he helps around the house purely for his partner, not for his own needs:

I do chores almost exclusively because I love you and I want to show you that I love you.

\*laughs\* I do not care at all if half these things are done.

Another participant shared how they incorporate various displays of love, such as quality time,

conversation, physical touch and acts of service:

We hug all the time. We kiss all the time. We touch all the time. We massage each other. We spend time in the hot tub together, probably 3 times a week we are in the hot tub and we are talking that entire time. We hold each other at night to go to bed. We, I take care of her every time she has a migraine... I hold her hair back when she throws up.

In addition to love languages, a common display of love was through conversation and communication. Communicating appreciation commonly reported and was utilized in ways to express appreciation for the work a partner does, for the purposeful displays of love, and through verbally supporting one another as they navigate life – "I find it's important to recognize and show gratitude for the chores and stuff around the house, because it's a lot" said a participant describing how communicating that appreciation plays a role in receiving purposeful love.

Many participants testified that the combination of these displays of love correlate with their sexual satisfaction, many reporting that without these demonstrations of love from their partner, they would be less eager to partake in sexual activity. For example, this participant shares how the impact of feeling loved leaves her more inclined to share sexual interactions with her partner for several days after particularly loving interactions:

We curled up on the cuddle couch and [partner] didn't have his phone or anything and probably spent like at least 15-20 minutes of like stroking my hair, and rubbing my back, sort of, me curled up like on him or against him while he was "loving on me" kind of thing. I think I might have been falling asleep at some point. But without any sort of expectation of anything it was just very nice and I was definitely more in a sexual mood for several days afterwards.

Another participant shared how displays of love, particularly acts of service in her case, allow for a clearer mind which in turn makes space for sexual interactions:

I'm much more up to have sex if I'm not staring at a big sink full of dirty dishes because I have that kind of brain that if I have a to do list 10 miles long, I'm not in the mood. You can't put me in the mood. All I'm thinking about is my anxiety about that. So, it does impact it because if he wouldn't do things for me to make my life easier, to make my brain calm down, I would be definitely less open to sex.

Other participants experienced similar experiences with feeling loved through various means, with one explaining how even when they are unable to have sexual interactions, displays of love still impact their sex life in the long haul:

We stay so busy a lot of times there's not even - you know we just fall in bed at the end of the day. Even if the desire is there, we don't have the energy, so just maintaining that connection and communicating that we still have that desire and still love each other and still just try to stay

connected as much as possible. So that way when opportunities do arise there's nothing we have to really work through in order to engage sexually I would say.

Another participant shared how not only connected these displays of love are for sexual satisfaction, but how it is necessary:

I think without those things there is no sexual satisfaction. I think we're both kind of the same in the sense that sex without feelings and connection and intimacy is just not worth it, so if I'm feeling disconnected with [partner] because there's no touch or no quality time or we're not communicating, we're not going to be sexually active with each other or if we are then it's not necessarily going to be enjoyable, so it effects it a lot, like those things have to be there for me.

Several members of the study disagreed with the participants who viewed a connection between displays of love, believing that they were two separate aspects of the relationship rather than intertwined entities. In support of this view, one participant shared, "I don't know that the ways we show that we love each other necessarily directly correlate to sexual satisfaction."

Another participant shared her experience in more depth:

I think that sexual satisfaction, that is separate from the love, to me at least. I think a lot of people can't separate it. Can't or maybe it just isn't separate to them. Like for me they're two different feelings. Like to me, that's like being like "well how does drinking water affect how hungry you are?" but it's like I'm hungry not thirsty. You know what I mean, like they're two different things. They go together a little bit, sure, but no matter how much water you drink, if you haven't eaten in a week, you're hungry. So, like yeah sure one feeds the other a little bit, they go together, but I feel like to me sex and love are two, two very separate things.

Overall, in terms of the study's findings, the relationship between sexual satisfaction and displays of love seem to vary person to person in accordance with their sexual needs.

**Communication.** Communication appears to be the fundamental groundwork for all participants in this study, particularly in showing love to partners. The ability and commitment to healthy and inclusive communication often results in participants of this study exploring what NM looks like in their relationship and how to keep their partner feeling secure and loved throughout the process. Holding space for difficult conversations has been shown in this study to be indispensable in showing love and commitment to your partner. These conversations include boundaries within NM, relationship pitfalls, expressing sexual/romantic needs and talking about sexual lulls. Creating a space where each partner feels secure in discussing something that is upsetting or challenging is, at times, how they entered non-monogamy to begin with. One participant in my study reported that full honesty and openness in the face of discomfort was what led them as a couple to explore their sexual and romantic needs through new means: We were on our road trip for our anniversary, our nineteenth anniversary and [partner] was like "hey I kind of want to have an adult conversation" and I said "okay", and she said, "I kind of want to have sex with other people." That's what she said ... so we talked about it for like an hour in the car and it was a very difficult, erotic conversation ... I went like you know a hundred miles an hour like, "this is scary as shit." I don't really think about that, but let's make it happen and how do we make that happen safely.

Throughout their sexual exploration with one another as well as people outside of their relationship, they were able to keep this level of disclosure as a staple in their routine discourse.

The other partner in that same couple later claimed:

There's nothing we don't talk about, and I think part of the way we show each other that we love each other is just being willing to talk about anything that's difficult. And we're good at it, so it

makes it pleasurable and bonding to talk about hard things whether it's a painful break up with another couple or whatever it is, whatever.

Part of having clear communication is also plainly expressing needs, letting your partner

know your desires whether it has to do with the relationship or outside of the relationship.

Another member of the study clarified that communication and expressing needs is an important part, particularly during a pandemic when they are both working from home:

I think a lot of it is just kind of checking in. Especially over the last year, right? We're in close quarters, we're working, we have the kid, and the work life, other people in our life. It's been bananas. And so, I think that the check-ins are probably the most important piece. And I guess to kind of define out what that means, it's a little bit more than just saying "hey how are you doing?" but, you know, checking in on "hey, so and so is going to be in town a couple days. Do you mind if I go hang out? I need a weekend away", you know? Talking through that like "hey are you cool with that?" or "do you mind if so and so comes over for dinner?" That kind of thing. Another participant discussed how being able to check in with one another about their current needs and additional partners is a fundamental part of communication that then leads them to address other content:

We are really open with each other and have a really consistent stream of communication back and forth of what's going on, and, you know, who we are talking to, and what we're interested in doing.

In addition to talking with each other as methods of meeting each other's needs, couples in the study reported having open conversations around boundaries within the relationship. Discussion of boundaries in participants often included sexual limits, boundaries within NM (commonly how additional partners are incorporated into their lives) and romantic limits. The most popular

experience among members of the study around boundaries was the evolution of their comfort zones over time. One participant shares how the relationship has shifted recently and they came up with a new rule, what they call the "Cinderella rule" explaining their boundary around sleepovers with additional partners:

Some of our rules have changed throughout the years like we used to have a pretty hard and fast rule about not having other partners in like our home space. Just so like, you know, our apartment was our space. But since [partner] is gone until October we have somewhat relaxed that. So we still have the rule, you know, no sex in the apartment with other partners. But like I can have my boyfriend over until like, what is it? 2 am, he turns into a pumpkin.

Often times, participants reported one of their most prevalent boundaries while in a NM relationship was specifically to talk everything through, as one participant speaking about relationship dynamics and boundaries states, "Excessive communication for sure" and another sharing, "I don't think we have many specific rules I think the main thing is that we have to be open in communication." This seemed to be a constant in the study, not only as a way to fully understand each other but mainly as a way to protect the relationship at hand, to preserve the feelings of safety, security, respect and love.

Acceptance of Partner. Furthermore, the acceptance of their partner is an important aspect in showing love. Participants reported intentionality within their relationship in terms of dating and sexual interaction. Essentially, intentionally appeared in the current study as creating purpose and deliberately being with their partner to convey love and dedication within the relationship; intentionality as a display of the conscious desire for their partner and the conscious decision to have them be a part of their life. As for dating their partner, several participants

reported the importance of choosing their partner and carving out time for them, even when it can be a challenge. A participant who has been together with her partner for 20+ years stated: We have always dated each other intentionally - even when, you know, I was pregnant every two years for eleven years, like we have always prioritized our marriage and our relationship and being friends, and that doesn't mean that there hasn't been super hard stuff to navigate.

Another participant shared how they create time for their relationship:

We have a date night every Friday night, every Friday after work we have a date and we go out and have lunch together and drink, so we do a lot together.

Participants who reported intentionality within dating discussed how this positively impacted their relationship satisfaction and feeling loved within the relationship. Intentionality in terms of finding time for sexual activities was also a common experience among members of the study. Numerous participants reported scheduling sex as extremely helpful. The following participant explains the role planning for sex has had in their relationship, particularly after having to navigate spending so much time together due to COVID-19:

One of the things we had to work through as we've lived together and especially through a pandemic is intentionally carving out and being like "we're going to do sex now". Like we're going to do - here is the time where we will be taking a date at home or whatever and we're going to make space and a time for it.

Similarly, another participant discussed how clarifying romantic attention from sexual attention has had a positive impact on their sexual relationship:

I do think that we need to sometimes like be explicit about when we're giving each other sexual attention vs. romantic attention... I do think that we give each other affection like a lot throughout the day or whatever that, like, if it becomes, if it goes into like a sexual attention type

of thing then sometimes, we need to signal it so that it's clear. Because we are so affectionate with each other.

Most participants reported showing love through flirting, as well. Each couple exemplified similar behavior, all with the intent of showing affection in a playful way to their partner. Flirtation often looked like teasing their partner, making jokes, touching their partner in a playful manner, etc. For example, one participant shared how they will playfully bet against each other for a sexual reward, "in terms of fantasy football, [we will] place bets on who will win: "like I'll go down on you if you win."" Another individual in the study shared how she uses flirting to offer security to her primary partner:

I joke that he should write the manual on how to operate my body when it comes to other partners which I think is another way of affirming him too in the face of non-monogamy, as like, letting him know that with him being my primary partner, he's got it figured out, and other people are just trying to figure it out.

There was a lot of playfulness present in the interviews as well, often shown through methods such as physical touch, laughter, facial expressions, eye contact, tone of voice, verbal teasing, etc. For example, one member of a couple shared ways in which they flirt with each other, "he might come up behind me and like bump and grind on me or something" to which her partner responded playfully with "I don't know what you're talking about" and the two laughed together. This type of teasing and flirtation was common in the interviews which demonstrates how important of a role it plays in participant's daily lives.

## Valence of Sexuality

**Partner Match.** In entering into their current NM relationship, participants typically tend to fit into one of four categories: (1) they came into this relationship having already had practiced

ethical non-monogamy and continued that relationship orientation, (2) they thoroughly discussed the possibility of a non-monogamous relationship at the start of their time together, (3) after being together for years the couple discussed the possibility of opening the relationship, or (4) the couple became ENM without an in-depth conversation. Regardless of how they became ethically non-monogamous, an important factor was finding a partner who was willing to go on this journey with them and support each other in this relationship. A participant discussed how her and her partner differ on the erotic aspect of ENM, but how well it works for them. Their journey into ENM began years into their relationship after having many discussions: I'm different than [partner] in it, like for him it is erotic for him to think about me with somebody else. That's not erotic for me to think about [partner] with somebody else. What is erotic is that I have zero distrust, where I'm like "dude I think that's awesome you go do it," I don't want to know about it, I definitely don't want to hear it, I don't want to be any part of it, but the part that's arousing to me is that I'm like my husband is like with another woman, two doors down, and I don't care at all... Of course, I want to know about it, I want to know that's happening, but it's not erotic to me to think about you with another women. The erotic part is that my marriage, like, I'm so loved, and I'm so trusted, and that's reciprocal and that's the part that's like "what, what!" It's like to me it's as scary as if [partner] went and got an ice cream cone where I'm like "okay cool man you do you."

Another participant shared how NM works in their relationship:

A lot of my experiences with non-monogamy have been going out exploring different aspects of kink, bondage, different types of pain play. That's mostly what my interactions outside of our marriage have been. Basically exploring things that he's not interested in because if I just wanted casual sex I can get that from my husband. We're open to explore things that we can't provide,

well I'm in so I can explore things that he can't provide for me and may not necessarily be something that he's into or it may be something that he's not comfortable with that I can engage in that with somebody else.

Each participant has a unique background, however one constant in the relationships presented in the study is their ability to partake in and desire for new experiences and their partner desiring the same thing not just for themselves, but for the other person in the relationship. One participant stated, "one of the reasons [long term relationships] didn't work for me in the past was because I felt the need to try the other thing that I could see out there and now I have the freedom to do that." Finding a partner who is comfortable and interested in experiencing NM plays arguably the biggest role in sexual satisfaction for individuals who wish to partake in ENM.

Sex Positivity. When the topic of whether participants hold a sex positive outlook was questioned, there was an overwhelmingly positive belief system shared across the study. Many members of the study stated a similar idea to one participant expressing sex positivity as evidenced by their responses and willingness to participate in the interview: "Exhibit A is the last hour." Every participant reported having an overall sex positive outlook, supported by their mentality that sex is viewed as a good thing and how it is natural rather than something to be ashamed of. In a display of normalizing and destigmatizing sex, one participant related sexual needs to the basic needs and human instincts of food and water, stating "you shouldn't feel guilty for wanting to eat or drink, or have sex." When asked whether they were sex positive and why or why not, another participant declared:

Yes. Why? Sex is great. I personally enjoy sex, I want other people to enjoy sex if that is what they want. I feel like our culture is more sex negative and puritanical. It's hard to shake the sex

shaming and the traditional value in American society so I just kind of, in general, wish that everyone felt free to do the things that they are interested in or to even know the things that they are interested in because they haven't been narrowed down.

Along with this participant above stating that they view the culture surrounding sex as sex negative, another participant stated a similar opinion. They believe that the way the culture, particularly advertising and marketing, portrays sex has a negative impact on individuals, leading this member of the study to share "[there are] some domains where I would call myself sexnegative, yeah" regarding the influence of negative or manipulative ways marketing has utilized sex to sell. However, this same participant reported that he is sex positive in terms of viewing sex as a positive experience, stating, "sex is great makes your life better, it's a great way to connect with people."

The idea of wanting everyone to feel free in exploring their sexuality is common among participants, the desire for people to feel at liberty to look into their sexuality without fear of judgment or shame. Another participant discussed his outlook on the valence of sexuality in terms of cultural stigma:

I certainly consider myself to be sex positive. I think that that phrase only has to exist because the culture is overwhelmingly sex negative. No one asks me if I'm a burrito positive person, I like eating burritos... there's no movement how to eat, or that eating too many burritos is... if you eat a burrito, you're a bad person. But because that exists [with sexuality], you have to have a counterbalance of, "I am not that type, I'm sex positive." So yeah, I don't, I don't agree with any of the reasons somebody would be sex negative. I think what you do with your body is your business and if you're doing it with another person, their business at the time. Yeah, if everyone

is consenting and enjoying themselves... I think playing video games with friends is fun and I'm for that, and I think having sex with other partners is fun and I'm for that.

Another shared perspective among participants is how versatile sex is, how it is more than penetrative sex and how the benefits far surpass that of sexual satisfaction. Participants often believed sex is not defined or limited to penis in vagina penetration, sex can be anything to anyone, ranging from a massage to oral sex, for example. A participant advocated for this, stating:

I love remind people that like sex is not just [penis] to [vagina] penetration, sex is not just orgasm, sex is not just a thing, like if a massage is sex to you then it's sex. I don't know, I like destignatizing sex.

Sex also has a larger impact than just sexual satisfaction, it's benefits bleed into other aspects of participant's lives, both in the relationship and external circumstances. Participants often shared the view of sex as impacting other areas of their relationship such as increasing displays of love and feeling love and excitement in the relationship. Many participants also reported seeing sex having an impact on their general, day to day lives outside of the relationship through, for example, an increase in mood, tolerance, etc. One participant worded it as: "I've seen how sex can improve your mood, your whole week, your day, and then that can spread out into other aspects of your life."

Reenforcing/Reteaching Messages for Future Generations. Participants mostly agreed upon the concept of improving the quality of sex education for future generations, both at home and education in schools. Reflecting on participant's history of formal education and the messages they received surrounding sexuality in this area of learning, members of the study tend to have hope for future generations receiving better formal sexual education than they, in hopes

that it decreases stigma, judgment, and shame. One participant supports this idea and shared in regard to her own experience, "if I had a better sexual education early on, I just think that would have been better." Another participant disclosed her experience with formal sex education vs what she learned later in life, sharing:

[I learned] the purpose of sex is to two-fold. It's either unitive, brings you closer together, or it's procreative, it's meant to bring life and you have children. We have six children, so we got that part down and the unitive part down. Nowhere is it taught that it's three-fold and the third fold would be for pleasure. Like for your own joy and pleasure and because it's a gift, right, so which I'm like now wait a minute because that is my faith system, it is a gift from God. I am very much a sexual being, that is a super important part of who I am, but it really went completely, not just unexplored, but almost unaccepted in my mind for a long time and I think it's really only been the last three years maybe, that I'm like, "wait I think sex can just be awesome because sex is awesome." Like, and I don't feel ashamed about it at all.

The idea of learning about sex from a pleasure aspect, such as what the participant above shared, is a value held by many participants. Several members of the study were raised through a religious lens that often left pleasure out of the discourse surrounding sex. In learning that sex is multifaceted and that pleasure is an important part in self-discovery, one participant shared in terms of informal education:

That's been very helpful in terms of being okay with who I am and like a lot of the urges that I have, like sexual or kinky and, you know, combined as well. That's probably been much better for me in terms of shaping sex in like a more natural, positive way

Informal education through the media is a method in which some participants shared a desire for better modeling with relationships and sex. More often than not, participants reported

that a less stigmatized approach to sexuality in the media would further youth's interpretation of sex as a natural human desire rather than a behavior/act that is hyper-sexualized and judged. A participant described his view on how sexuality is manipulated by the media through the following assertion:

There's a pathology in how a lot of people interface with sex and sexuality and I think there is a really bad combination of a low level of education and maunders who know how to exploit people's behavior with sexual stimuli, and that creates a storm of pathological sex behaviors that people say, this is okay.

The culture surrounding sex was reported to be a large influence on participant's personal growth, understanding, and acceptance of sexuality. One member of the study who reported growing up with a lot of shame and stigma surrounding sex, including a lot of "slut shaming," discussed how, not only sex education impacted her ability to explore herself as a sexual being, but how the culture of shame surrounding sex had a larger influence on her:

I think sex ed is just a part of the bigger cultural piece. Like, I don't know that the sex ed was the most responsible part, I think it was more just like all of the cultural conditioning that kept me from really understanding myself as a sexual being and from not attaching shame with that for a while.

Another common theme within culture was participants' discussion on the lack of representation of healthy relationships, what different relationships can look like (ethical non-monogamy vs monogamy), LGBTQ+ persons, etc. Some members of the study reported the impact this had on them, such as prolonging shame, lack of exploration, lack of accepting their sexuality, and a likely increased length of time to understand their own sexuality. One participant argued:

It took a lot longer to figure myself out. I mean, my bisexuality and my sexuality. It took, you know, it takes time for that. And it takes time for that normally, but it takes much more time when it's something that you don't have an avenue to explore it, to talk to anybody about it. Any examples, any healthy examples.

In terms of informal education received through family and parents, regardless of whether participants hold positive memories of conversations surrounding sex with their family, whether they did not view conversations (or lack thereof) as positive or negative, or whether participants reported having negative experiences within these conversations, the majority of participants reported a desire for future generation to have a comfortable atmosphere to discuss sexuality at home. Participants who have or anticipate having children tended to speak more towards how they want to create a sex positive environment for their children. These parents also accredit their sex positive attitude to improving their parenting abilities, believing they are better and more capable parents for their children than they would be if they didn't share this notion. In terms of how one participant is not only hoping to hold space for her children, but also how she has navigated informal education as an adult, one participant shared, "it's a conscious undoing of the messages we were given." Another participant communicated, "I think being sex positive is also being feminist" continuing to add, how his sex positive approach "makes us much better parents because we have teenagers too, you know, so our language has changed so much" which he believed continuously helps him be a better father and better support system for his children. Another participant explained:

We want his girls to see what a good, solid relationship looks like and that it's perfectly okay to show your partner how much you care about them in little ways, even if it's just, you know, a touch of the arm. So part of that, besides just being us, is we are trying to instill that into her. So

that she will not accept less in her relationships, whatever they may be. ... Every month just to take care of us, and that's what we've taught our daughters. We do this to take care of us, because without us, there's no big us.

Many parents in the study report a similar desire of wanting to be a positive example of love and healthy relationships for their children. This was reportedly done in various ways, such as showing affection, respecting boundaries, etc., and was a very important in terms of teaching future generations a better, more wholistic view of sex and relationship education. A sense of learning through observing was a common outlook for parents in this study.

#### **Chapter V: Discussion**

In accordance with other studies, the current study found that the maintenance of sexual satisfaction in long-term relationships far exceeds sexuality and sexual touch. Previous research has sought to understand what influences sexual satisfaction, but they do not examine these factors within a non-monogamous relationship. Ultimately, it was my hope to contribute to the current literature on the clinical conceptualization of non-monogamous relationships. The aim of this discussion is to examine the findings of the current research. Subsequently, implications and recommendations for future research will be delineated. Participants in this study reported an incorporation of erotica, purposeful displays of love outside of sexual interactions, and high levels of sex positivity. The majority of participants attributed these experiences and views to maintaining sexual satisfaction.

Incorporation of erotica is very broad, stemming from visual stimulation, to toys, to additional partners. In this study, novelty was found to be a primary motivator in the utilization of erotica, whether that be within the relationship or with additional partners. Research has found that individuals who utilize erotica are impacted by the material, may learn from it and may incorporate new behaviors that they have seen in the sexually explicit material into their own sexual experiences (Kimberly et al., 2018; Wright, 2011; Wright et al., 2018). In support of previous studies, such as Kimberly et al. (2018) who found that erotica can be used as a tool to understand sexual and romantic relationships as well as personal sexual exploration, this study found that erotica was often reported as a way for individuals to learn more about their sexuality either with their partner or by sharing the experience with their partner after learning/exploring more. For instance, many couples reported exploring erotica together, or knowing boundaries

and being able to safely state they would not like to explore this interest, in which case often the partner would explore this aspect of their sexuality with additional partners.

Learning about new erotica and a desire to explore novelty often was a catalyst in the mindset of prolonged learning and curiosity to last a lifetime. Many participants reported a desire for life-long learning, not only about sexuality in general but also about their personal sexual development and the sexual development of their partner(s). Research supports the concept of life long sexual exploration, for example Kimberly et al. (2018) explored concept of erotic literature and the ways in which it impacts participants; these participants ranged from 20 to 78 years old, telling how age does not impact one's desire to explore sexuality, and Rendina et al. (2019) finding that sexual development and acceptance is often spanned over the course of a lifetime. With life-long exploration comes the concept of learning alongside one's partner. The sharing of experiences as a way to not only include each other along their individual journeys but also to spread knowledge and discuss sexual interests. Codes that contributed to this theme included experimentation, novelty, pictures, safety, dating, pornography, sharing personal experiences, and others. Erotica, particularly in terms of novel experiences, played an important role in this exploration. Participants commonly reported sharing sexually explicit material with their partner as a way to instigate the conversation of potentially exploring this new scene, leading the couple to explore via research (reading up on the topic, learning through classes, podcasts, etc.) or experimentation with this new experience. Regardless of whether they implemented the behavior, couples in the current study generally reported conversations would be held surrounding the concept to educate one another and discuss sexual boundaries.

Participants reported showing love through purposeful means, often referencing to "Love Languages" (i.e., acts of service, physical touch, gift giving, words of affirmation and quality

time). Most participants identified their partner's methods of receiving love without being prompted, and these participants also conveyed a mindset that purposefully took into account their partners love languages and made effort to show love in those ways even if they were different from their own identified love languages. For instance, helping with chores, time with each other without phones (distraction free time), non-sexual physical touch, flowers, etc. Another recurrent experience was that of communicating with one another to show love and commitment to one's partner. Communication concerning boundaries, needs, desires and more casual topics such as catching up on their days or intellectual conversation were very important to members of this study, and was recognized as a way to portray love. Acceptance of partner was another commonly shared experience. Intentionality within the relationships, particularly in purposeful displays of love to meet partner's needs, played a large role in members of the study's expression of love. This involves meeting partner's love languages, accepting and feeding their curiosity for learning, playfulness, scheduling sex at times and intentionally dating one another. Codes that contributed to the displays of love theme comprised of love languages, support, acceptance of one another, boundaries, conversations, balance, messages from partner, time together, friendship, connection, kissing and commitment.

Valence of sexuality presents in various ways throughout the relationship. To start, participants revealed another important role within their partner; finding a partner who fits with them is a crucial aspect in continuing into the journey of NM. Being able to feel accepted and secure with one's partner allows for safety in the exploration of sexuality and sexual needs. Having a partner who shares a similar outlook on sexuality and sexual exploration is imperative in the exploration of ethical non-monogamy. All participants in the study reporting being generally sex positive, often referring to their willingness to participate in the study and sharing

their values surrounding sex which usually encompassed a desire for de-stigmatization and acceptance of sexuality as a natural aspect of human behaviors. Sex positivity was communicated within the relationship through all the findings we have explored in this paper. Allowing for discussions concerning erotica and novelty, a willingness and desire to incorporate life-long learning and share this experience with their partner and accepting their partner and meeting their partners needs in various ways. Supporting current research stating that sex positivity is communicated through particular means such as language, open attitudes and conversations (Cruz et al., 2017, Donaghue, 2015), the current study found sex positive mindsets among participants are communicated through actions and discussions about sexuality, it is present in the relationship through the safe environment created allowing for partners to express needs and interests without fear of judgment. Holding sex positive beliefs in this study resulted in the principle that sex is a positive aspect of life that should be explored without shame. With this idea of not holding onto shame comes the desire to change the messages surrounding sex for future generations. Many participants shared how sex education and the culture surrounding sex influenced their mindset surrounding sexuality, often in a negative sense such as internalized slut shaming and expressed the desire for future generations to learn in a more accepting and factual environment. This can be done through formal education in schools but also through informal methods such as portrayals of sex in the media and holding conversations surrounding sex at home. Many participants who have children or even those who do not expressed wanting to create a safe environment in their home for their kids to explore and ask about sexuality without shame. Codes that contributed to the development of the valence of sexuality theme include perspective, sex positive, influencing kids, language, good fit for us, what is important for us, playful attitude towards sex, trauma and assertive.

Through the explorations of these results, a significant influence concerns the essential role of education. Several participants had similar experiences surrounding their sexual education, these experiences often being limited knowledge and negative takeaways. At some point during self-exploration, these participants gained insight into how limited their initial sexual knowledge/education had been – for some this was due to religious influences, the topic of sex being taboo, experiencing abstinence only education, etc. This awareness then sparked curiosity within the participants: now that I know my perspective is limited what else is out there? What else have I not learned? This inspired participants, who were often adults at the time of this recognition, to explore sexuality both formally through workshops, lectures and classes, and informally through podcasts, pleasure reading and experimentation. Members of the study would then be inspired to find additional opportunities to explore together with their partner. This allowed for participants to continue their sexual journey and self-acceptance in a safe environment with a partner who accepts this journey and wants to share the experience with them.

The exploration of sexuality often resulted in the exploration of oneself, which sparks the conversation on boundaries and negotiation. A portion of participants not only were on a journey to explore what sexuality presented as for them, but also how to navigate this exploration within a committed relationship. In doing so, participants needed to further their education not just on sexuality, but learning about negotiation, boundaries and relationships. Numerous members of the study listened to podcasts and read books on these topics to become more capable of exploring this new aspect of themselves safely and within a committed relationship, these educational tools and new insights were then shared with their partner. Education plays a role of

the utmost importance among participants exploration into ethical non-monogamy and their ability to maintain sexual (and relationship) satisfaction.

#### Clinical Implications.

The findings of this study offer important insights for the marriage and family therapy (MFT) community who may work with ENM relationships. The topic of sexuality is taboo in western society, and often therapists may have discomfort around these conversations as well. When a person is already uncomfortable with the conversation of sex, the conversation of ENM relationships can be very intimidating. Results of this study hopefully allow for a foundational understanding to how ENM relationships maintain sexual satisfaction and common themes among ENM relationships, such as communication levels, impact of education, importance of partner match and displays of love.

An MFT theory that clinicians may incorporate with the findings of this study and with ENM relationships in their practice is Contextual Family Therapy (Boszormenyi-Nagy & Ulrich, 2016). Bosnormenyi-Negy, the founder of said theory, presented four dimensions of relationships: facts, psychology, transactions/power alignments and relationship ethics. Facts are undeniable aspects of relationships/individuals – e.g., ethnicity would be a fact. Psychology is the individual experience within a person – e.g., personal feelings and emotions. Transactions or power alignments are patterns, interactions held, rules in place, etc. Relationship ethics is the fairness between the parties involved (Boszormenyi-Nagy & Ulrich, 2016).

Implications from the current study are drawn from these four dimensions of contextual family therapy. Facts present as the impact of the current pandemic on relationships. Nearly all participants in the study discussed at one time or another how their life and relationships have shifted due to the COVID-19 pandemic, this is something they all learned to cope with or

manage in individual ways, however it is something universal that all participants had to endure or manage. Therapists who work with ENM couples, particularly at this time when having to work with the consequences of world-wide coronavirus, must consider not just facts they consider regardless (culture, family of origin, etc.), but must consider how the present pandemic influences the relationship and disallows particular behaviors that ENM couples typically seek out – such as playing with multiple partners, attending sex clubs or sex parties, etc.

Psychology appears in the study through the individual experiences that each partner brings with them into this relationship – for instance shame. Each partner within participating couples brought their own experiences of shame and acceptance into their current relationship(s), and together the couple had to examine and work with how this potentially impacted their relationship, particularly in terms of participating in ENM behaviors. Many participants in the current study reported being raised in a religious environment which often led participants to have a unique barrier to sexual acceptance – previous research supports this idea through findings stating developmental context, such as religiosity or parenting styles, can add to sexual shame or negate it (Kirkpatrick, 1997; Limke & Mayfield, 2011; McDonald et al., 2005; Regnerus et al., 2004; Volk et al., 2016). Viewing sexuality through a sex positive lens is another example of how psychology presents in the current study. Some participants stated that while they consider themselves to be sex positive currently, they have developed this outlook overtime through education, experiences, conversations and critical thinking. For those that developed this outlook throughout the relationship, this was a hurdle they had to overcome individually, but with support from their partner as well. The individual experience is important to draw attention to and being able to recognize that individual experiences and hurdles influence not only the one

who brings these concerns into the relationship, but the partner who must inherently face these realities with their companion.

Transactions emerge through the communicational environment each couple has been able to cultivate. Being able to negotiate rules, boundaries, desires and needs in a space that feels safe and non-judgmental is one of the most significant findings in this study in terms of implementation into counseling practices, and therapists who work with ENM must be aware of the level of importance this carries in order to assist couples in executing this groundwork. Transactions and power alignment also play a role in terms of partner match – discovering a partner who will partake in these types of transactions, conversations, novelty, and pleasure. An additional aspect for MFTs to consider in terms of transactions and partner match is the sexual transaction between potential partners in ENM relationships, taking into consideration the research done by Meston & Buss (2009) which explores why women choose to partake in sex. This can be used as a tool in helping therapists understand sexual motivation and behaviors within any relationship, ENM or not. Particularly for therapists who may struggle with understanding the motivation for the non-monogamous relationship at hand, this research can be used to recognize the complexity of sexual desire and the importance in finding a potential partner that aligns with their beliefs and communication style, as well as meeting their sexual needs (Smith & Lynn, 2010).

Relational ethics encompasses ethically non-monogamous behaviors and relationships. Such as with any relationship, couples strive to reach equality within the relationship (Gerson, 2010) however equitable fairness is determined on an individual basis considering all other factors of the relationship – needs, desires, lived experiences, psychology, facts, etc. While research has yet to thoroughly study equity in ENM relationships, the research on negotiation

and fairness in other aspects of relationships can nevertheless be conceptualized in terms of ENM. Hatfield et al. (2011) reported relationships in which one or both partners view equity within their partnership as unequal (e.g., household chore distribution (Charbonneau et al., 2019)), often attempt to restore equity – this approach also varies in method according to the individual relationship. Additional studies have investigated the negotiation tactics used in romantic relationships, particularly in the sense of restoring equity, and found that equity-restoring behaviors and the partners acknowledgment of said behaviors are tied to relationship satisfaction (Charbonneau et al., 2019), also showing that the partner who feels they are on the lower end of the equity scale (whether that be the feeling of equity or actual equity within the relationship) often attempt to coax their partner into restoring equity and rewarding the behavior (Riforgiate & Boren, 2015). Applying this information to the current study may present as conversations surrounding boundaries, rules and desires from their ENM relationship.

An important aspect of relational ethics in terms of contextual therapy is the idea that entitlement and indebtedness are inherent and bound to exist within relationships. The accumulation of these debts/entitlements and how they are handled, acknowledged and paid off directly correspond to the trustworthiness, health and satisfaction in the relationship. In terms of ENM, this is particularly important when it comes to additional partners and building trust withing your own relationship. The therapist can utilize these four dimensions of contextual family therapy in order to assist ENM clients in maintaining stability as they explore these new avenues together

#### Limitations and Future Research.

Given the exploratory nature of this study there are inherent limitations to the results and implications the findings hold. Limitations of the present study primarily include the participant

selection. Participants who express a willingness to participate in a study concerning sexual satisfaction are likely going to be individuals who feel comfortable discussing sexuality and their personal sex lives, which likely results in individuals who hold sex positive beliefs being the volunteers to participate. This could result in biased results due to the lack of diversity in the valence of sexuality, which sexuality research tends to have as a common limitation (Hertlein et al., 2020). Another limitation included the current COVID-19 pandemic. Nearly the entire population sample discussed in one way or another how the pandemic has influenced their relationship, including their sex life with each other, their ability to partake in non-monogamous behaviors that they otherwise would be exploring, their romantic displays of affection, intentionally dating each other, and even perhaps influencing their friendship.

The study also had one couple participate who stood out against the other couples. Based off of the responses each member of the couple gave the researcher in the interview, it appeared as though the decision to participate in non-monogamous behaviors was less out of both individuals' cumulative desire for this sort of sexual exploration and needs, but more to please one partner who desired this type of relationship. This was a heterosexual relationship where the male identifying person requested to open their relationship and the female identifying partner was not necessarily interested in participating, nor had ever had an interest in exploring ENM, yet did this to please her partner and keep their relationship going. Throughout the interview, the female partner would discuss the pressure she has felt and still feels to satisfy her partner and be okay with him getting his needs met from other people. For instance, the female partner stated at one point in the interview how she decided to allow her partner to participate in NM purely to save the relationship rather than her interests and how she has crossed her own boundaries to please her partner. The male partner consistently stated how he is not fully satisfied with the level

of NM they have incorporated in their relationship, but with female partner's current limits, this is what it has to be. For example, male partner desired a concept he called "kitchen table polyamory" which is, as he described, "having partners that are around all the time and hanging out everybody interacts with each other as in like when we're having dinner everybody comes around the kitchen table". This is a concept his wife is strongly uncomfortable with, she prefers "parallel poly" described as the male participant as "it's 'I have a relationship that's over here and a relationship that's over here' and they don't mesh that often." Based off of the observation of the researcher, it appears this NM relationship is not the healthiest example of an ENM relationship, as it is being pursued to meet one partner's needs while almost dismissing the other partner's boundaries along the way. This relationship was an outlier in the sense that both partners were not enthusiastically consenting to the ENM process, whereas in all other relationships interviewed the partners made sure to move at a pace that respected each partners boundaries and limitations, without applying pressure to "be okay" with all the desires of one partner, and both partners desired to incorporate ENM into their relationship.

There is still limited research investigating ENM relationships and this impacts the understanding and normalization of this relationship orientation. Many participants explained a large reason why they participated in this study was to normalize and have more conversations concerning alternatives to monogamous relationships, displaying a desire within the community to be more understood and accepted. Moving forward, research could continue to explore ENM relationships through several avenues of research. Continuing from these results, a follow up study may further investigate the comparison between education and understanding self-sexuality, or perhaps examine the sexual side of the relationship and how non-monogamy presents in relation to sexual behaviors – what does your sexual activity look like with your

partner vs additional partners. Additionally, to understand ENM and relationship/sexual satisfaction, perhaps future research could compare non-monogamous relationships to monogamous relationships in terms of communication styles, comfortability having difficult conversations, level of safety/comfort in discussing new sexual desires or comparing displays of affection.

#### Conclusion

The intention of this study was to examine methods in which long-term, non-monogamous relationships maintain sexual satisfaction. This was accomplished through 60-minute interviews with couples who have been together for a minimum of 7 years and are currently non-monogamous. Findings of this study provide themes which clinicians, researchers and individuals who are interested in NM can reference when looking to understand healthy habits that aid in maintaining a ENM relationship. Through the understanding of the process ENM relationships typically go through to maintain a balanced and healthy relationship with one another as well as additional partners, marriage and family therapists are benefited with the information from the current study and may use this as a tool to assist the therapeutic process. The results of this study add to the research on non-monogamous romantic relationships and may assist in furthering the study of non-monogamous relationships.

# **Appendix A: Interview Questions**

- 1. Can you describe your formal experience with sex education?
- 2. Tell me about any informal sex education you received, this can be through parents, pornography, friends, internet, etc.
- 3. How has sex education shaped you as a sexual being?
- 4. In what ways do you and your partner show love and affection to each other day to day, outside of sex?
- 5. How do these methods of affection impact your sexual satisfaction?
- 6. Besides penetration, what are forms of sexual behaviors/activities you and your partner partake in that contribute to your sexual satisfaction, if any?
- 7. What forms of erotica (defined as anything used to enhance sex life, so this could be videos, books, toys, perhaps even non-monogamy could be considered), if any, have you and your partner incorporated that aided in maintaining or enhancing your sexual satisfaction throughout the years?
- 8. What does non-monogamy look like in your relationship (includes boundaries, communication regarding monogamy, any rules)?
- 9. Tell me about your decision to be non-monogamous and please share your experiences in a non-monogamous relationship.
- 10. Explain how openness to new experiences contributes to your sexual satisfaction, if at all.
- 11. If you and your partner found yourselves in a sexual lull, what did you do to pull yourselves out of it?
- 12. Would you say your outlook on sexuality is sex positive? Why or why not?

# Appendix B: Demographics Survey

# Please highlight selected answer

1. What is your age?	
A. 25-30	
B. 31-35	
C. 36-40	
D. 41-45	
E. 46-50	
F. 51-55	
G. 56-60	
H. 61+	
2. What is your gender?	
A. Male	
B. Female	
C. Transgender	
D. Non-Binary	
E. Genderqueer	
F. Other (please specify)	
G. Prefer not to say	
3. What is your ethnicity?	
A. White	
B. Hispanic/Latino	
C. Black/African American	
D. Native American/American Indian	
E. Asian/Pacific Islander	
F. Other	
4. How long have you been in your current relationship?	
A. 7-9 years	
B. 10-12 years	
C. 13-15 years	
D. 15-20 years	
E. 20+ years	
5. What is your sexual orientation?	
A. Straight/Heterosexual	
B. Gay/Lesbian	
C. Bisexual	
D. Other (please specify)	

	6. What is your relationship orientation? Select all that apply:
A.	Swinger
В.	Open relationship
C.	Polyamorous
D.	Other (please specify)
	7. What is your marital status?
	A. Single (never married)
	B. Married
	C. In a domestic partnership
	D. Divorced
	E. Widowed
	8. Do you have children? Select all that apply:
	A. Yes, within current relationship
	B. Yes, outside of current relationship
	C. No
	D. If yes, what is/are the child(ren)'s age(s)

## **Appendix C: Recruitment Flyer**

# Participants Needed for a Research Study on Sexual Satisfaction on Non-Monogamous Relationships

The purpose of this research study is to learn the sexual and romantic behaviors that contribute to the sexual satisfaction in long-term, non-monogamous couples.

Participants will be asked to: (1) individually complete a brief demographic questionnaire, and (2) participate in a interview together with their partner via Zoom with the researcher. Interviews will occur online at the couple's preferred location where they have access to Zoom. The interview will take no more than 60 minutes. Participants will be compensated \$10 Amazon Gift Card as a couple.

Study eligibility/inclusion criteria: Healthy adults, 25 years or older, who are in a non-monogamous couple relationship of at least 7 years. Both members of the couple must participate in the study.

Please contact Ms. Anna Kessler or Dr. Katherine Hertlein to learn more.

Anna: kessla3@unlv.nevada.edu; 513-763-0071 Dr. Hertlein: katherine.hertlein@unlv.edu; 702-895-2310

# **Appendix D: Tables**

Table 1

Demographic Information Pt. 1

P #	Age	Gender	Ethnicity	Length of Relation	Sexual Orientation
1a	36-40	Male	White	15-20	Bisexual
1b	31-35	Female	White	15-20	Bisexual
2a	41-45	Female	White	20+	Heterosexual
2b	41-45	Male	White	20+	Heterosexual
3a	25-30	Male	White	10-12	Heterosexual
3b	25-30	Female	White	10-12	Bisexual
4a	36-40	Male	White	10-12	Pansexual
4b	36-40	Female	White	10-12	Bisexual
5a	41-45	Male	White	15-20	Heterosexual
5b	36-40	Female	White	15-20	Bisexual
6a	25-30	Female	White	7-9	Demisexual & Bisexual
6b	25-30	Male	Hispanic/Latino	7-9	Heterosexual
7a	36-40	Male	White	15-20	Heterosexual
7b	41-45	Female	White	15-20	Heteroflexible
8a	36-40	Male	White	7-9	Bisexual
8b	31-35	Female	White	7-9	Bisexual
9a	25-30	Male	White	10-12	Heterosexual
9b	25-30	Female	White	10-12	Bisexual
10a	31-35	Female	White	10-12	Bisexual
10b	36-40	Male	White	10-12	Bisexual
11a	25-30	Female	White	7-9	Heterosexual
11b	31-35	Male	White	7-9	Heterosexual
12a	61+	Female	White	20+	Heterosexual
12b	61+	Male	White	20+	Heterosexual
13a	31-35	Female	Hispanic/Latino	13-15	Bisexual
13b	36-40	Male	White	13-15	Heterosexual
14a	41-45	Female	White	10-12	Bisexual
14b	46-50	Male	White	10-12	Heterosexual
15a	31-35	Male	White	7-9	Heteroflexible
15b	31-35	Female	White	7-9	Bisexual
16a	31-35	Male	White	7-9	Heterosexual
16b	36-40	Female	White	7-9	Heterosexual
17a	31-35	Female	White	10-12	Heterosexual
17b	36-40	Male	White	10-12	Heterosexual
18a	51-55	Female	White	13-15	Heterosexual
18b	51-55	Male	White	13-15	Bi-curious
19a	41-45	Female	White	7-9	Bi-curious

19b	31-35	Male	Native American/ American Indian	7-9	Pansexual
20a	31-35	Male	White	13-15	Heterosexual
20b	25-30	Female	Asian/Pacific Islander	13-15	Heterosexual
21a	31-35	Female	White	7-9	Heteroromantic with
					interest in women
21b	31-35	Male	White	7-9	Heterosexual
22a	46-50	Male	White	7-9	Bisexual
22b	41-45	Female	White	7-9	Pansexual
23a	36-40	Male	White	7-9	Heterosexual
23b	41-45	Female	White	7-9	Bisexual
24a	25-30	Female	Asian/Pacific Islander	7-9	Bisexual
24b	25-30	Male	White	7-9	Heterosexual

Table 2

Demographic Information Pt. 2

P #	Marital Status	Children	Age of Children
1a	Married	Yes within	10,12
1b	Married	Yes within	10,12
2a	Married	Yes within	7,10,13,15,17,18
2b	Married	Yes within	7,10,13,15,17,18
3a	Married	No	
3b	Married	No	
4a	Married	Yes within	5
4b	Married	Yes within	5
5a	Married	Yes within	10,12
5b	Married	Yes within	10,12
6a	Married	No	
6b	Married	No	
7a	Married	Yes within	10
7b	Married	Yes within	10
8a	Married	No	
8b	Married	No	
9a	Married	Yes within	1,4,6
9b	Married	Yes within	1,4,6
10a	Single	No	
10b	Single	No	
11a	Married	No	
11b	Married	No	
12a	Married	Yes within	36,40
12b	Married	Yes within	36,40
13a	Married	No	
13b	Married	No	
14a	Married	Yes outside	18
14b	Married	No	
15a	Married	No	
15b	Married	No	
16a	Single	No	
16b	Single	No	
17a	Married	No	
17b	Married	No	
18a	Married	Yes outside	29,31
18b	Married	Yes outside	17,19,21
19a	Married	No	
19b	Married	No	

20a	Married	No	
20b	Married	No	
21a	DP	No	
21b	DP	No	
22a	Married	Yes outside	20,21,22
22b	Married	Yes outside	13,17
23a	Married	Yes within	3,7
23b	Married	Yes within	3,7
24a	Married	No	
24b	Married	No	

#### References

- Abrego, T. (2011). Sex talk: Factors that influence parent-child communication about sex.

  \*Master's Theses and Doctoral Dissertations. 375. <a href="https://commons.emich.edu/theses/375">https://commons.emich.edu/theses/375</a>
- Afifi, T. D., Joseph, A., & Aldeis, D. (2008). Why Can't We Just Talk About It? *Journal of Adolescent Research*, 23(6), 689–721. doi:10.1177/0743558408323841
- Archibald, M. M., Ambagtsheer, R. C., Casey, M. G., & Lawless, M. (2019). Using Zoom Videoconferencing for Qualitative Data Collection: Perceptions and Experiences of Researchers and Participants. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 18, 160940691987459. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406919874596
- Aubrey, J. S., & Frisby, C. M. (2011). Sexual objectification in music videos: a content analysis comparing gender and genre. *Mass Communication and Society*, *14*(4), 475-501. doi:10.1080/15205436.2010.513468
- Babin, E. A. (2013). An examination of predictors of nonverbal and verbal communication of pleasure during sex and sexual satisfaction. *Journal of Social and Personal*\*Relationships, 30(3), 270–292. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0265407512454523">https://doi.org/10.1177/0265407512454523</a>
- Barker, M. (2005). This is my partner, and this is my . . . partner's partner: Constructing a polyamorous identity in a monogamous world. *Journal of Constructivist Psychology*, 18, 75–88.
  - Barker, M., & Langdridge, D. (2010). *Understanding non-monogamies*. New York: Routledge.
- Becvar, R. J., & Becvar D., S. (2018). *Systems theory and family therapy: A primer* (3<sup>rd</sup> ed.). Hamilton Books.

- Bell, J. (2009). Why embarrassment inhibits the acquisition and use of condoms: A qualitative approach to understanding risky sexual behaviour. *Journal of Adolescence*, *32*(2), 379–391. doi:10.1016/j.adolescence.2008.01.002
- Birnbaum, G. E., Reis, H. T., Mikulincer, M., Gillath, O., & Orpaz, A. (2006). When sex is more than just sex: Attachment orientations, sexual experience, and relationship quality.

  \*\*Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 91(5), 929–943. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.91.5.929
- Boszormenyi-Nagy, I., & Ulrich, D. N. (2016). Contextual Family Therapy. Sexton, T. L., & Lebow, J. (Eds.), *Handbook of family therapy*. (pp. 159-186). Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group.
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2), 77-101. doi:10.1191/1478088706qp063oa
- Brickman, J., & Willoughby, J. F. (2017). 'You shouldn't be making people feel bad about having sex': exploring young adults' perceptions of a sex-positive sexual health text message intervention. *Sex Education*, 17(6), 621–634.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/14681811.2017.1332582">https://doi.org/10.1080/14681811.2017.1332582</a>
- Brody, S. (2010). The Relative Health Benefits of Different Sexual Activities. *Journal of Sexual Medicine*, 7(4pt1), 1336–1361. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1743-6109.2009.01677.x
- Brody, S., & Costa, R. M. (2009). Satisfaction (sexual, life, relationship, and mental health) Is associated directly with penile-vaginal intercourse, but inversely with other sexual behavior frequencies. *Journal of Sexual Medicine*, *6*(7), 1947–1954. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1743-6109.2009.01303.x

- Brown, J. D. (2002). Mass media influences on sexuality. *Journal of Sex Research*, 39(1), 42-45. doi: 10.1080/00224490209552118
- Byers, E. S. (2005). Relationship satisfaction and sexual satisfaction: A longitudinal study of individuals in long-term relationships. *Journal of Sex Research*, 42(2), 113–118. doi:10.1080/00224490509552264
- Burnes, T. R., Singh, A. A., & Witherspoon, R. G. (2017). Sex positivity and counseling psychology: An introduction to the major contribution. *The Counseling Psychologist*, 45(4), 470–486. doi: 10.1177/0011000017710216
- Butler, S. (2018, August 22). *Graham and Kellogg: The health-crazed men behind our kitchen favorites*. (Original work published 2014). <a href="https://www.history.com/news/graham-and-kellogg-the-health-crazed-men-behind-our-kitchen-favorites">https://www.history.com/news/graham-and-kellogg-the-health-crazed-men-behind-our-kitchen-favorites</a>
- Cameron-Lewis, V., & Allen, L. (2013). Teaching pleasure and danger in sexuality education. Sex Education, 13(2), 121–132. doi:10.1080/14681811.2012.697440
- Charbonneau, A., Lachance-Grzela, M., & Bouchard, G. (2019). Housework Allocation,

  Negotiation Strategies, and Relationship Satisfaction in Cohabiting Emerging Adult

  Heterosexual Couples. Sex Roles, 81(5), 290–305. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-018-0998-1
- Cohen, L., Mannion, L., Morrison, K. (2007) Research methods in education, 6th ed. Routledge, London.
- Coleman, E., Dickenson, J. A., Girad, A., Rider, G. N., Candelario-Pérez, L.E., Becker-Warner, R., Kovic A. G., & Munns, R. (2018). An integrative biopsychosocial and sex positive model of understanding and treatment of impulsive/compulsive sexual behavior. *The Journal of Treatment & Prevention*. https://doi.org/10.1080/10720162.2018.1515050

- Conley, T. D., Moors, A. C., Matsick, J. L., & Ziegler, A. (2013). The fewer the merrier?:

  Assessing stigma surrounding consensually non-monogamous romantic relationships.

  Analyses of Social Issues and Public Policy, 13, 1–30.
- Conley, T. D., Perry, M., Gusakova, S., & Piemonte, J. L. (2018). Monogamous Halo Effects:

  The Stigma of Non-Monogamy within Collective Sex Environments. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 48(1), 31–34. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-018-1213-8">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-018-1213-8</a>
- Conley, T. D., Piemonte, J. L., Gusakova, S., & Rubin, J. D. (2018). Sexual satisfaction among individuals in monogamous and consensually non-monogamous relationships. Journal of Social and Personal Relationships, *35*(4), 509–531.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0265407517743078">https://doi.org/10.1177/0265407517743078</a></a>
- Conley, T. D., Ziegler, A., Moors, A. C., Matsick, J., and Valentine, B. (2012). A critical examination of popular assumptions about the benefits and outcomes of monogamous relationships. Pers. Soc. Psychol. Rev. *2*, 124–141. doi: 10.1177/1088868312467087
- Clark, L., & Stitzlein, S. M. (2016). Neoliberal narratives and the logic of abstinence only education: why are we still having this conversation? *Gender and Education*, 30(3), 322–340. doi:10.1080/09540253.2016.1203883
- Cruz, C., Greenwald, E., & Sandil, R. (2017). Let's talk about sex: Integrating sex positivity in counseling psychology practice. *The Counseling Psychologist*, 45(4), 547–569. doi: 10.1177/001100001771476
- Culp-Ressler, T. (2014, July 11). *High schooler files human rights complaint over 'slut-shaming' abstinence education class*. <a href="https://archive.thinkprogress.org/high-schooler-files-human-rights-complaint-over-slut-shaming-abstinence-education-class-89809960096e/">https://archive.thinkprogress.org/high-schooler-files-human-rights-complaint-over-slut-shaming-abstinence-education-class-89809960096e/</a>

- de Visser, R., & McDonald, D. (2007). Swings and roundabouts: Management of jealousy in heterosexual "swinging" couples. *British Journal of Social Psychology*, 46, 459–476.
- Deakin, H., & Wakefield, K. (2014). SKYPE interviewing: Reflections of two PhD researchers.

  Oualitative Research, 14, 1–14.
- Debrot, A., Meuwly, N., Muise, A., Impett, E. A., Schoebi, D. (2017). More Than Just Sex:

  Affection Mediates the Association Between Sexual Activity and Well-Being. *National Library of Medicine*, 43(3), 287-299. doi:10.1177/0146167216684124
- Dines, G. 2010. Pornland: How pornography has hijacked our sexuality. *Boston, MA: Beacon Press.* Estrella, S. 2012. Health coalition releases first ever National Sexuality Education Standards.
- Dodd, S. J., & Katz C. C. (2020). Sex Positive Social Work Education: Integrating Content into HBSE Courses and Beyond. *Journal of Teaching in Social Work*, 40(1), 48-57, DOI: 10.1080/08841233.2019.1695708
- Donaghue, C. (2015). Sex outside the lines: Authentic sexuality in a sexually dysfunctional culture. Dallas, TX: *Benbella Books*.
- Duffy, K., Lynch, D., & Santinelli, J. (2008). Government Support for Abstinence-Only-Until-Marriage Education. *Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 84(6), 746–748. doi:10.1038/clpt.2008.188
- Easton, D., & Hardy, J. W. (2011). *The ethical slut: A practical guide to polyamory, open relationships, and other adventures*. New York, NY: Celestial Arts.
- Eastman, K. L., Corona, R., Ryan, G. W., Warsofsky, A. L., & Schuster, M. A. (2005). Worksite-based parenting programs to promote healthy adolescent sexual development: A

- qualitative study of feasibility and potential content. *Perspectives on Sexual and Reproductive Health*, *37*(2), 62-69.
- Elmerstig, E., Wijma, B., Sandell, K., & Berterö, C. (2012). "Sexual pleasure on equal terms": Young women's ideal sexual situations. *Journal of Psychosomatic Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, *33*(3), 129–134. https://doi.org/10.3109/0167482X.2012.706342
- Eyal, K., & Finnerty, K. (2009). The portrayal of sexual intercourse on television: How, who, and with what consequence? *Mass Communication and Society*, *12*(2), 143-169. doi:10.1080/15205430802136713
- Fahs, B., & Swank, E. (2013). Adventures with the "plastic man": Sex toys, compulsory heterosexuality, and the politics of women's sexual pleasure. *Sexuality & Culture*, 17(4) 666-685. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12119-013-9167-4
- Ferreira, L. C., Narciso, I., Novo, R. F., & Pereira, C. R. (2014). Predicting couple satisfaction:

  The role of differentiation of self, sexual desire, and intimacy in heterosexual individuals.

  Sexual and Relationship Therapy, 29, 390–404. doi:10.1080/14681994.2014.957498
- Fisher, D. A., Hill, D. L. Grube, J. W., Bersamin, M. M., Walker, S., & Gruber, E. L. (2009).

  Televised sexual content and parental mediation: Influences on adolescent sexuality.

  Media Psychology, 12(2), 121-147. doi:10.1080/15213260902849901
- Fleckenstein, J. R., & Cox, D. W. (2015). The association of an open relationship orientation with health and happiness in a sample of older US adults. *Sexual and Relationship Therapy*, 30, 94–116.
- Ford, J. V., Barnes, R., Rompalo, A., & Hook, E. W. (2013). Sexual health training and education in the U.S. *Public Health Reports*. *128*(1), 96-101. https://doi.org/10.1177/00333549131282S111

- Foster, A. (2019, August 19). Corn Flakes originally created to clear the mind of 'sinful' thoughts. News.com. <a href="https://www.news.com.au/lifestyle/food/eat/corn-flakes-originally-created-to-clear-the-mind-of-sinful-thoughts/news-story/d22e8e7b8ed307347551c74131da4c13">https://www.news.com.au/lifestyle/food/eat/corn-flakes-originally-created-to-clear-the-mind-of-sinful-thoughts/news-story/d22e8e7b8ed307347551c74131da4c13</a>
- Frederick, D. A., John, H. K. S., Garcia, J. R., & Lloyd, E. A. (2017). Differences in Orgasm

  Frequency Among Gay, Lesbian, Bisexual, and Heterosexual Men and Women in a U.S.

  National Sample. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 47(1), 273–288. doi:10.1007/s10508-017-0939-z
- Garcia, J.R., Reiber, C., Massey, S.G., & Merriwether, A.M. (2012). Sexual hookup culture: A review. *Review of General Psychology*, *16*(2), 161–176.

  <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0027911">http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0027911</a>
- Gathorne-Hardy, J. (2000). Sex the measure of all things: a life of Alfred C. Kinsey.

  Bloomington: Indiana University Press.
- Georgiadis, Janniko, R., Kringelback, Morten, L., & Pfaus, J. G. (2012). Sex for fun: a synthesis of human and animal neurobiology. *Nature Reviews. Urology*, *9*(9), 486-498. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1038/nrurol.2012.151">https://doi.org/10.1038/nrurol.2012.151</a>
- Gerson, K. (2010). The unfinished revolution: How a generation is reshaping family, work, and gender in America. *New York: Oxford University Press*.
- Goblet, M., & Glowacz, F. (2021). Slut shaming in adolescence: a violence against girls and its impact on their health. International *Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *18*(12), 6657. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18126657">https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18126657</a>
- Goldey, K. L., Posh, A. R., Bell, S. N., & van Anders, S. M. (2016). Defining Pleasure: A Focus Group Study of Solitary and Partnered Sexual Pleasure in Queer and Heterosexual

- Women. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 45(8), 2137–2154. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-016-0704-8
- Grossman, J. M., Charmaraman, L., & Erkut, S. (2016). Do as I Say, Not as I Did: How Parents

  Talk With Early Adolescents About Sex. *Journal of Family Issues*, *37*(20), 177-197.

  doi:10.1177/0192513X13511955
- Grunt-Mejer, K., & Campbell, C. (2016). Around consensual nonmonogamies: Assessing attitudes toward nonexclusive relationships. *The Journal of Sex Research*, *53*, 45–53.
- Hall, K., & Graham, C., (Eds.). (2012). *The cultural context of sexual pleasure and problems*. New York: Routledge.
- Hancock, J. & Barker, M. J. (2018). The use of porn in sex and relationships education. *Porn Studies (Abingdon, UK)*, 5(1), 97-103. https://doi.org/10.1080/23268743.2018.1434981
- Hatfield, E., Salmon, M., & Rapson, R. L. (2011). Equity theory and social justice. *Journal of Management, Spirituality & Religion*, 8,101–121.
  https://doi.org/10.1080/14766086.2011.581818.
- Haupert, M. L., Gesselman, A. N., Moors, A. C., Fisher, H. E., & Garcia, J. R. (2017).
  Prevalence of experiences with consensual nonmonogamous relationships: Findings from two national samples of single Americans. *Journal of Sex & Marital Therapy*, 43(5), 424–440. doi: 10.1080/0092623X.2016.1178675
- Hays, P. A. (2013). Connecting across cultures: The helper's toolkit. Los Angeles: Sage Publications.
- Herbenick, D., Fu, T. C., Arter, J., Sanders, S. A., & Dodge, Brian. (2017). Women's Experiences With Genital Touching, Sexual Pleasure, and Orgasm: Results From a U.S. Probability

- Sample of Women Ages 18 to 94. *Journal of Sex & Marital Therapy*, 44(2), 201–212. https://doi.org/10.1080/0092623x.2017.1346530
- Herbenick, D., Reece, M., Hensel, D., Sanders, S., Jozkowski, K., & Fortenberry, D. J. (2011).
  Association of Lubricant Use with Women's Sexual Pleasure, Sexual Satisfaction, and
  Genital Symptoms: A Prospective Daily Diary Study. *Journal of Sexual Medicine*, 8(1),
  202–212. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1743-6109.2010.02067.x">https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1743-6109.2010.02067.x</a>
- Hertlein, K. M., Molina, J., & Moores, R. (2020). The influence of collaborative pornography viewing on relationship quality in heterosexual couples. *The Canadian Journal of Human Sexuality*. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3138/cjhs.2020-0028">https://doi.org/10.3138/cjhs.2020-0028</a>
- Higgins, J. A., Mullinax, M., Trussell, J., Kenneth Davidson Sr, J., & Moore, N. B. (2011).

  Sexual satisfaction and sexual health among university students in the United States.

  American Journal of Public Health (1971), 101(9), 1643–1654.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2011.300154">https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2011.300154</a>
- Hinchliff, S., & Gott, M. (2004). Intimacy, commitment, and adaptation: Sexual relationships within long-term marriages. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 21(5), 595–609. doi:10.1177/0265407504045889
- Hirst, J. (2013). 'It's got to be about enjoying yourself': Young people, sexual pleasure, and sex and relationships education. Sex Education: Sexuality, Society, and Learning, 13(4), 423-436. doi:10.1080/14681811.2012.747433
- Ingham, R. (2005). "We didn't cover that at school": Education against pleasure or education for pleasure? *Sex Education*, *5*(4), 375-388. doi:10.1080/14681810500278451
- Intimacy. (2020). In Oxford Advanced Learner's Dictionary. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.oxfordlearnersdictionaries.com/us/definition/american\_english/intimacy#:~:t">https://www.oxfordlearnersdictionaries.com/us/definition/american\_english/intimacy#:~:t</a>

- ext=1%5Buncountable%5D%20the%20state%20of,that%20they%20know%20very%20
  well
- Ivanski, C., & Kohut, T. (2017). Exploring definitions of sex positivity through thematic analysis. *The Canadian Journal of Human Sexuality*, 26(3), 216-225. doi:10.3138/cjhs.2017-0017
- Jackson, C. (2016). 'I sort of did stuff to him' A case study of tellability and taboo in young people's talk about sex. *NARRATIVE INQUIRY*, *26*(1), 150–170.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1075/ni.26.1.08jac">https://doi.org/10.1075/ni.26.1.08jac</a>
- Jenks, R. J. (1985). Swinging: A test of two theories and a proposed new model. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 14, 517–527.
- Kaplan, M. (2014). Sex positive law. New York University Law Review, 89(1), 90-164
- Kimberly, C., & Hans, J. D. (2015). From fantasy to reality: A grounded theory of experiences in the swinging lifestyle. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 46, 789–799.
- Kimberly, C., Williams, A. L., & Creel, S. (2018). Women's Introduction to Alternative Sexual Behaviors through Erotica and Its Association with Sexual and Relationship Satisfaction. Sex Roles, 78(1), 119–129. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-017-0771-x">https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-017-0771-x</a>
- Kimmes, J. G., Mallory, A. B., Cameron, C., & Köse, Ö. (2015) A treatment model for anxiety-related sexual dysfunctions using mindfulness meditation within a sex-positive framework. *Sexual and Relationship Therapy*, 30(2), 286-296, DOI: 10.1080/14681994.2015.1013023

- Kirkpatrick, L. A. (1997). A longitudinal study of changes in religious belief and behavior as a function of individual differences in adult attachment style. *Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion*, *36*, 207–217.
- Kohut, T., Fisher, W., & Campbell, A. (2017a). Erratum to: Perceived effects of pornography on the couple relationship: Initial findings of open-ended, participant-informed, "bottom-up" research. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 46(2), 603. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-016-0838-8
- Kohut, T., Fisher, W., & Campbell, A. (2017b). Perceived effects of pornography on the couple relationship: Initial findings of open-ended, participant-informed, "bottom-up" research.

  \*Archives of Sexual Behavior, 46(2), 585 603. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s10508-016-0783-6.
- Kohut, T., Balzarini, N., Fisher, W. A., & Campbell, L. (2018). Pornography's associations with open sexual communication and relationship closeness vary as a function of dyadic patterns of pornography use within heterosexual relationships. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 35(4), 655 676. https://doi.org/10.1177/0265407517743096
- Kunter, B. A., Simoni, J. M., Aunon, F. M., Creegan, E., & Balán, I. C. (2020). How Stigma Toward Anal Sexuality Promotes Concealment and Impedes Health-Seeking Behavior in the U.S. Among Cisgender Men Who Have Sex with Men. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*. doi:10.1007/s10508-019-01595-9
- L'Abate, L., & Hewitt, D. (2013). Toward a classification of sex and sexual behavior. *Journal of Sex and Marital Therapy*, 14, 29-39.

- Lamb, S., Graling, K., & Lustig, K. (2011). Stereotypes in Four Current AOUM Sexuality

  Education Curricula: Good Girls, Good Boys, and the New Gender Equality. *American Journal of Sexuality Education*, 6(4), 360–380. doi:10.1080/15546128.2011.624477
- Lamb, S., Lustig, K., & Graling, K. (2013). The use and misuse of pleasure in sex education curricula. *Sex Education*, *13*(3), 305–318. doi:10.1080/14681811.2012.738604
- Lazaridou, A., & Kalogianni, C. (2013). Mindfulness and sexuality. *Sexual and Relationship Therapy*, 28(1-2), 29-38.
- Liamputtong, P. (2013). Stigma, discrimination and living with HIV/AIDS: A cross-cultural perspective. New York, NY: Springer.
- Limke, A., & Mayfield, P. B. (2011). Attachment to God: Differentiating the contributions of fathers and mothers using the experiences in parental relationships scale. *Journal of Psychology and Theology*, 39, 122–129.
- Maddox, A. M., Rhoades, G. K., & Markman, H. J. (2011). Viewing sexually-explicit materials alone or together: Associations with relationship quality. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 40(2), 441–448. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-009-9585-4
- Matsick, J. L., Conley, T. D., Ziegler, A., Moors, A. C., & Rubin, J. D. (2014). Love and sex: Polyamorous relationships are perceived more favourably than swinging and open relationships. *Psychology & Sexuality*, *5*, 339–348.
- Mark, K. P. (2015). Sexual desire discrepancy. *Current Sexual Health Reports*, 7, 198–202. doi:10.1007/s11930-015-0057-7
- Mark, K. P., Garcia, J. R., & Fisher, H. E. (2015). Perceived emotional and sexual satisfaction across sexual relationship contexts: Gender and sexual orientation differences and

- similarities. *The Canadian Journal of Human Sexuality*, 24(2), 120–130. doi:10.3138/cjhs.242-a8
- Mark, K., Herbenick, D., Fortenberry, D., Sanders, S., & Reece, M. (2014). The Object of Sexual Desire: Examining the "What" in "What Do You Desire?" *The Journal of Sexual Medicine*, 11(11), 2709–2719. doi:10.1111/jsm.12683
- Mark, K. P., & Jozkowski, K. N. (2013). The Mediating Role of Sexual and Nonsexual Communication Between Relationship and Sexual Satisfaction in a Sample of College-Age Heterosexual Couples. *Journal of Sex & Marital Therapy*, 39(5), 410–427. doi:10.1080/0092623x.2011.644652
- Mark, K. P., & Lasslo, J. A. (2018). Maintaining Sexual Desire in Long-Term Relationships: A Systematic Review and Conceptual Model. *The Journal of Sex Research*, *55*(4-5), 563–581. doi:10.1080/00224499.2018.1437592
- Mark, K.P., Milhausen, R.R., & Maitland, S. (2013). The impact of sexual compatibility on sexual and relationship satisfaction in a sample of young adult heterosexual couples.

  Sexual and Relationship Therapy, 28(3), 201-214. doi:10.1080/14681994.2013.807336.
- Mark, K.P., Vowels, L., Bennett, S., & Norwick, J. (2018). Sources for the formation of sexual values in lesbian, gay, bisexual, and straight adults and the impact on sexual satisfaction and desire. *American Journal of Sexuality Education*, 13(4), 399-410. doi:10.1080/15546128.2018.1470950
- Matsick, J. L., Conley, T. D., Ziegler, A., Moors, A. C., & Rubin, J. D. (2014). Love and sex: polyamorous relationships are perceived more favourably than swinging and open relationships. *Psychology and Sexuality*, *5*(4), 339–348. https://doi.org/10.1080/19419899.2013.832934

- McDonald, A., Beck, R., Allison, S., & Norsworthy, L. (2005). Attachment to God and parents:

  Testing the correspondence vs. compensation hypotheses. *Journal of Psychology and Christianity*, 24, 21–28.
- McGoldrick, M., Loonan, R., & Wohlsifer, D. (2007). Sexuality and culture. In S. R. Leiblum (ed.), *Principles and practice of sex therapy* (4th ed., pp 416-441). New York: Guilford Press.
- McLean. (2004). Negotiating (Non)Monogamy. *Journal of Bisexuality*, 4(1-2), 83–97. https://doi.org/10.1300/J159v04n01\_07
- Meston, C. M., & Buss, D. M. (2009). Why women have sex: understanding sexual motivations, from adventure to revenge (and everything in between) (1st ed.). Times Books.
- Milstein, S., Hilliard, T. E., Hall, S., Knox, D., & Hunter, G. (2019). Factors That Impact College Students' Perceptions of Sexual Pleasure and Satisfaction. *American Journal of Sexuality Education*, 15(1), 99–110. https://doi.org/10.1080/15546128.2019.1675563
- Mintz, L. (2019, September 5). *Abstinence-Only Sex Ed: Harmful? Unethical?* Psychology Today. <a href="https://www.psychologytoday.com/us/blog/stress-and-sex/201709/abstinence-only-sex-ed-harmful-unethical">https://www.psychologytoday.com/us/blog/stress-and-sex/201709/abstinence-only-sex-ed-harmful-unethical</a>
- Mogilski, J. K., Memering, S. L., Welling, L. L. M., & Shackelford, T. K. (2015). Monogamy versus Consensual Non-Monogamy: Alternative Approaches to Pursuing a Strategically Pluralistic Mating Strategy. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 46(2), 407–417. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-015-0658-2
- Moors, A.C., Matsick, J. L., Ziegler, A., Rubin, J. D., & Conley, T. D. (2013). Stigma Toward Individuals Engaged in Consensual Nonmonogamy: Robust and Worthy of Additional

- Research. *Analyses of Social Issues and Public Policy*, *13*(1), 52–69. https://doi.org/10.1111/asap.12020
- Morrison, T. G., Beaulieu, D., Brockman, M., & Beaglaoich, C. O'. (2013). A comparison of polyamorous and monoamorous persons: Are there differences in indices of relationship well-being and sociosexuality? *Psychology & Sexuality*, *4*, 75–91.
- Muise, A., Impett, E. A., & Desmarais, S. (2013). Getting it on versus getting it over with:

  Sexual motivation, desire, and satisfaction in intimate bonds. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 39(10), 1320-1332. doi:10.1177/0146167213490963
- Newton-Levinson, A., Winskell, K., Abdela, B., Rubardt, M., & Stephenson, R. (2014). "People insult her as a sexy woman": sexuality, stigma and vulnerability among widowed and divorced women in Oromiya, Ethiopia. *Culture, Health & Sexuality*, *16*(8), 916–930. doi:10.1080/13691058.2014.921838
- Noland, C., (2020). Communication and sexual self-help: Erotica, kink and the Fifty Shades of Grey phenomenon. *Sexuality & Culture*, 24(5), 1457-1479.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s12119-020-09701-z">https://doi.org/10.1007/s12119-020-09701-z</a>
- Opperman, E., Braun, V., Clarke, V., & Rogers, C. (2014). "It feels so good it almost hurts":

  Young adults' experiences of orgasm and sexual pleasure. *The Journal of Sex Research*,

  51(5), 503–515. https://doi.org/10.1080/00224499.2012.753982
- Pascoal, P. M., Narciso, I. de S. B., & Pereira, N. M. (2013). What is Sexual Satisfaction?

  Thematic Analysis of Lay People's Definitions. *The Journal of Sex Research*, 51(1), 22–30. doi:10.1080/00224499.2013.815149
- Philpott, A., Knerr, W., & Boydell, V., (2006). Pleasure and prevention: When good sex is safer sex. *Reproductive Health Matters*, 14(28), 23-31. doi:10.1016/s0968-8080(06)28254-5

- Planned Parenthood. (2014). Lesson 9-6: Preventing STIs & Lesson 9-8: Negotiating

  Postponement and Protection. In, *Get Real: Comprehensive sex education that works*.

  ETR.
- Planned Parenthood. (2020). *Abstinence-Only-Until-Marriage Programs*.

  <a href="https://www.plannedparenthoodaction.org/issues/sex-education/abstinence-only-programs">https://www.plannedparenthoodaction.org/issues/sex-education/abstinence-only-programs</a>
- Reeves, B., Ickes, M., & Mark, K.P. (2016). Gender differences and condom-associated embarrassment in the acquisition of purchased versus free condoms among college students. *American Journal of Sexuality Education*, 11, 61-75. doi:10.1080/15546128.2016.1146188.
- Regnerus, M. D., Smith, C., & Smith, B. (2004). Social context in the development of adolescent religiosity. *Applied Developmental Science*, 8, 27–38.

  <a href="http://doi.org/10.1207/S1532480XADS0801\_4">http://doi.org/10.1207/S1532480XADS0801\_4</a>
- Rendina, H. J., Carter, J. A., Wahl, L., Millar, B. M., & Parsons, J. T. (2019). Trajectories of Sexual Identity Development and Psychological Well-Being for Highly Sexually Active Gay and Bisexual Men: A Latent Growth Curve Analysis. *Psychology of Sexual Orientation and Gender Diversity*, 6(1), 64–74. https://doi.org/10.1037/sgd0000308
- Riforgiate, S. E., & Boren, J. P. (2015). "I just can't clean the bathroom as well as you can!":

  Communicating domestic labor task equity resistance and equity-restoring strategies among married individuals. *Journal of Family Communication*, *15*, 309–329.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/15267431.2015.1076421">https://doi.org/10.1080/15267431.2015.1076421</a>.

- Ritchie, A., & Barker, M. (2006). 'There aren't words for what we do or how we feel so we have to make them up': Constructing polyamorous languages in a culture of compulsory monogamy. *Sexualities*, *9*, 584–601.
- Roach, M. (2008). Bonk. New York: W Norton & Co Inc.
- Robertson, E. (2019). The Taboo of Sex Within Gender Based Violence Prevention: Localizing the Gender and Development Paradigm in Cambodia. *Journal of International Women's Studies*, 20(3), 74–87.
- Rodrigues, D., Fasoli, F., Huic, A., & Lopes, D. (2017). Which Partners Are More Human?

  Monogamy Matters More than Sexual Orientation for Dehumanization in Three

  European Countries. *Sexuality Research & Social Policy*, *15*(4), 504–515.

  https://doi.org/10.1007/s13178-017-0290-0
- Rosenkrantz, D, E., & Mark, K.P. (2018). The sociocultural context of sexually diverse women's sexual desire. *Sexuality & Culture*, 22(1), 220-242. doi:10.1007/s12119-017-9462-6
- Rowe, P. (2020). STATES' RIGHTS OR STATES' WRONGS? THE CONSTITUTIONAL ARGUMENT FOR MEDICALLY ACCURATE AND COMPREHENSIVE SEX EDUCATION. *Arizona Law Review*, *62*(2), 539.
- Schalet, A. (2010). Sexual Subjectivity Revisited: The significance of relationships in Dutch and American girls' experiences of sexuality. *Gender & Society*, 24(3), 304-329.
- Smith, J. B., & Lynn, C. D. (2010). Book Review: Why it's Interesting Why Women Have Sex. *Evolutionary Psychology*. https://doi.org/10.1177/147470491000800210
- Society for Adolescent Health and Medicine. (2017). Abstinence-Only-Until-Marriage policies and programs: An updated position paper of the Society for Adolescent Health and Medicine. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 61(3), 400-403.

- Staley, C., & Prause, N. (2012). Erotica Viewing Effects on Intimate Relationships and Self/Partner Evaluations. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 42(4), 615–624. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-012-0034-4
- Stephens, A. K., & Emmers-Sommer, T. M. (2019). Adults' Identities, Attitudes, and Orientations Concerning Consensual Non-Monogamy. *Sexuality Research & Social Policy*, 17(3), 469–485. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13178-019-00409-w
- Stephens, E. (2010). Sex as a normalizing technology: Early twentieth-century public sex education campaigns, *Psychology & Sexuality*, *1*(3), 262-274, DOI:10.1080/19419899.2010.494903
- Stidham Hall, K., McDermott Sales, J., Komro, K. A., & Santelli, J. (2016). The state of sex education in the united states. *HHS Public Access*, *58*(6), 595-597. doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2016.03.032.
- Tarozzi, Massimiliano, & Mortari, Luigina. (2009). Phenomenology and Human Science

  Research Today. In Phenomenology and Human Science Research Today. Zeta Books.
- Theiss, J. A. (2011a). Modeling dyadic effects in the associations between relational uncertainty, sexual communication, and sexual satisfaction for husbands and wives. *Communication Research*, 38(4), 565-584. https://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0093650211402186
- Theiss, J. A. (2011b). Sexual Satisfaction Scale [Database record]. Retrieved from PsycTESTS. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1037/t60140-000">https://dx.doi.org/10.1037/t60140-000</a>
- Tuttas, C. A. (2015). Lessons learned using web conference technology for online focus group interviews. *Qualitative Health Research*, *25*, 122–133.
- United States of America. Department of Education. (2020). Washington D.C.: U.S. Department of Education.

- Van Manen, M. (1990). Researching lived experience. London, Ontario: Althouse Press.
- Vātsyāyana, & Burton, R. F. (1963). The Kama sutra of Vatsyayana. *New York: Capricorn Books*.
- Volk, F., Thomas, J., Sosin, L., Jacob, V., & Moen, C. (2016). Religiosity, Developmental
  Context, and Sexual Shame in Pornography Users: A Serial Mediation Model. *Sexual Addiction & Compulsivity*, 23(2-3), 244–259.
  https://doi.org/10.1080/10720162.2016.1151391
- Vowels, L. M., & Mark, K. P. (2018). Relationship and sexual satisfaction: a longitudinal actor–partner interdependence model approach. *Sexual and Relationship Therapy*, 1–14. doi:10.1080/14681994.2018.1441991
- Vowels, L. M., & Mark, K. P. (2020). Partners' Daily Love and Desire as Predictors of Engagement in and Enjoyment of Sexual Activity. *Journal of Sex & Marital Therapy*, 1–13. doi:10.1080/0092623x.2019.1711274
- Watson, E. D., Séguin, L. J., Milhausen, R. R., & Murray, S. H. (2016). The Impact of a Couple's Vibrator on Men's Perceptions of Their Own and Their Partner's Sexual Pleasure and Satisfaction. *Men and Masculinities*, 19(4), 370–383.
- Williams, D. J., Prior, E., & Wegner, J. (2013). Resolving social problems associated with sexuality: Can a "sex- positive" approach help? *Social Work*, *58*, 273–276. doi: 10.10.1083/sw/swt024

- Wright, P. J. (2011). Mass Media Effects on Youth Sexual Behavior Assessing the Claim for Causality. *Annals of the International Communication Association*, *35*(1), 343–385. https://doi.org/10.1080/23808985.2011.11679121
- Wright, P. J., Sun, C., & Steffen, N. (2018). Pornography Consumption, Perceptions of Pornography as Sexual Information, and Condom Use. *Journal of Sex & Marital Therapy*, 44(8), 800–805. https://doi.org/10.1080/0092623X.2018.1462278
- Young, M., Denny, G., Luquis, R., & Young, T. (1998). Correlates of sexual satisfaction in marriage. *The Canadian Journal of Human Sexuality*, 7(2), 115–127.

#### **Curriculum Vitae**

#### Anna G. Kessler

4505 S Maryland Pkwy Las Vegas, NV 89154 Phone: (702) 895-3011

#### **EDUCATION**

### University of Nevada, Las Vegas

August 2019 – Current

Couple and Family Therapy (Master of Science) Expected Graduation, December 2021 Current GPA | 4.0

## **University of Cincinnati**

2018

Psychology (Bachelor of Science) Psychology (Bachelor of Arts)

Minor: Women's Gender and Sexuality Studies

GPA | 3.228 | Financed 100% of college degree through work experiences

#### **CLINICAL EXPERIENCE**

#### **Student Therapist Intern**

January 2021-Current

Maternal Minds Counseling, Las Vegas, NV

Provided therapy to couples, individuals and adolescents in the Las Vegas community. Maternal Minds specializes in providing mental health support to new or current mothers, fathers and parents who are facing this transition.

#### Therapist-In-Training

May 2020-January 2021

Center for Individual, Couple and Family Counseling, University of Nevada, Las Vegas Provided therapy at a low cost (sliding scale) to the Las Vegas Community using different therapy models to assist clients in reaching their goals in therapy. Through talk therapy, to either couples or individuals, concerns such as depression, anxiety, adjustment, identity developments, trauma, and communication are addressed. In working with clients, diagnoses would be made according to the criterion of the DSM-V. I prepare treatment plans, case reports and notes concerning my experiences with my clients in therapy, as well as conducting assessments. I attend weekly supervision and participate in case presentations.

#### PROFESSIONAL POSITIONS

# Graduate Assistantship – University of Nevada, Las Vegas Academic Success Coach and Support Specialist

October 2020-August 2021

Met with undergraduate students virtually or via phone in peer-to-peer coaching sessions to assist with development of soft skills (e.g., goal setting, test anxiety, motivation, and

balancing personal, work and school life) and resourcing. Presented online workshops and conducted online presentations to university departments and undergraduate students. Attended professional development and gained experience in managing online work settings.

#### Nanny

September 2019 – April 2020

I worked part-time as a nanny for a seven-month-old baby. I helped with household work, went on walks with the baby, put the baby to bed and challenged his cognitive development through play time while the parents were working.

## Planned Parenthood Southwest Ohio Region Health Educator

May 2018-August 2019

Planned Parenthood

Responsible for community programming outreach, program development, grant coordination, social media posts and various additional duties. Prepared and presented human sexuality education programs and material that are medically accurate, culturally competent and up to date to communities, groups and/or individuals of all and any age, socioeconomic status, gender identity, race, religion, etc. Built upon people and service skills.

# Planned Parenthood Southwest Ohio Region Education Intern

January 2018-May 2018

Planned Parenthood

I conducted research on various topics including sexual education programs in various schools, brain activity and sexual activity, sexual education for the developmentally disabled etc. I built kits used for sex education in schools as well as shadowing these events, helped set up for and attend tabling events and trainings. I attended Human Sexuality courses focused on History of Pleasure and Sex Positivity; Sexuality, Gender and Sexual Education; Relationships and Sexual Behavior; Sexual Violence and Consent; Sexually Transmitted Infections; etc.

# **Bogart's Concert Venue Premium Seating On-Site Sales Coordinator**

September 2017-May 2018

Live Nation Entertainment

I assisted with managing daily operations concerning the sales of premium (VIP) seating (i.e., engaging with clients' night of show, ticket sales, answering phone calls, resolving customer service issues), ticketing event setup and maintenance, training night of show hosts, accounting and reporting for ticket sales, handling money during and after events, and managed a small group of employees.

#### **Express**

#### **Sales Associate**

October 2014 – September 2017

Through my job as a retail sales associate, I learned basic customer service skills as my focus was on customer satisfaction. Additional responsibilities included taking inventory, handled money organized the store, and assisted with floor changes.

#### **Bob Evans**

#### Server, Trainer

June 2015 - March 2017

As a server, I provided service to customers, trained new servers, partook in cleaning the restaurant, and built upon my customer service skills.

#### PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Completed EMDRIA Approved Eye Movement Desensitization and Reprocessing (EMDR) Training by EMDR Consulting Las Vegas, NV August 2021-September 2021

Attended Emotional Eating, Chronic Dieting, Bingeing and Body Image by Judith Matz, LCSW

Online Workshop: PESI

April 2021

Attended the AAMFT Conference – MFTs Changing the World Online Conference November 2020

Completed Diversity Training – UNLV Online Training October 2020

Completed "At-Risk for Faculty and Staff" Training – UNLV – Kognito Online Training
October 2020

Completed Cybersecurity Awareness Training – UNLV Online Training
October 2020

Attended Therasoft Training – University of Las Vegas, Couple and Family Therapy Program Online Training July 2020

Attended Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (ACT) Training – William Arndt, LMFT Online Training
May 2020

Attended Working with Couples in Telehealth – AAMFT Online Training April 2020

Attended How to Start a Telehealth Program – Telehealth Certification Institute Online Training April 2020

Attended Telehealth: Legal and Ethical Issues – Simple Practice Learning Online Training April 2020

Attended COVID-19 and Telebehavioral Health: Ethical Considerations During a Public Health Emergency – ACA Online Training April 2020

Attended Telehealth: California Social Work Response to the COVID-19 Pandemic – NASW
Online Training
April 2020

Attended Telepsychology Best Practice 101 Series – APA Online Training April 2020

Attended Telehealth with Queer and Trans Clients – AAMFT Online Training April 2020

Attended an Introduction to TBH – Katherine Hertlein, AAMFT Online Training April 2020

Attended EFT Emotionally Focused Therapy Pioneered by Sue Johnson – Dr. Anabelle Bugatti Workshop Las Vegas, Nevada February 2020 Attended Autism Workshop – Brie Tums Las Vegas, Nevada September 2019

Attended How to Know They Are Ready For The Talk Webinar July 2019

Attended Ohio Alliance to End Sexual Violence Conference Dublin, Ohio June 2019

Attended What Do You Mean? Unblurring the Lines between Consent, Assault, & So Much More
Webinar
June 2019

Attended Let's Talk about Managing Stress – Autism Society Cincinnati, Ohio May 2019

Attended the Center for Closing the Health Gap 16<sup>th</sup> Annual Health Expo Cincinnati, Ohio April 2019

Attended Working Together to Achieve Health Equity Cincinnati, Ohio April 2019

Attended the CSE's National Sex Ed Conference Newark, New Jersey April 2019

Attended Shining a Light: Effective Sex Ed for Youth with Physical Disabilities Webinar
March 2019

Attended Making Proud Choices Training Ohio Department of Youth Services Columbus, Ohio February 2018

Attended Reducing the Risk Training

Ohio Department of Youth Services Columbus, Ohio November 2018

Attended Transforming Care Conference The Equitas Health Institute Columbus, OH October 2018

Attended "The Ohio Sex Ed Summit: Healthier Communities through Sexuality Health Education"
Planned Parenthood
Columbus, OH
October 2018

Attended "Training of the Educator – Making Proud Choices" Curriculum Training ETR Associates Columbus, OH October 2018

Attended Caracole Conference focused on HIV and Harm Reduction Caracole Cincinnati, OH September 2018

Attended "Ready, Set, Go! Foundations of Prevention" Training Ohio Alliance to End Sexual Violence Columbus, OH August 2018

Attended "Think This Is Easy?" Disability Awareness Training Access Center for Independent Living Dayton, OH August 2018

Attended Women's Liberation Workshop Cincinnati, OH July 2018

Attended Building Healthy Futures – How to Effectively Engage with Youth and Reduce Health Disparities in Ohio Training Columbus, Ohio
June 2018

Attended and presented at the University of Cincinnati Undergraduate Scholarly Showcase Cincinnati, OH April 2018

Attended and presented at the University of Cincinnati  $10^{\rm th}$  Annual Equity and Inclusion Conference Cincinnati, OH April 2018

Attended "Women Blazing Trails" Cincinnati Women in Leadership Symposium Ohio Diversity Council Cincinnati, OH
March 2018

Attended and presented at the 50<sup>th</sup> Association for Behavioral & Cognitive Therapies (ABCT) Conference New York, NY October 2016

#### RESEARCH EXPERIENCE

# Sexual Satisfaction in Long-Term, Non-Monogamous Relationships Primary Researcher, Master's Thesis

October 2019 - Current

Couple and Family Therapy, University of Nevada, Las Vegas

Supervisor: Katherine M. Hertlein, Ph.D., LMFT

In accordance with program requirements, I have chosen to fulfill my capstone through a thesis route. The purpose of this study is to understand what sexual and romantic behaviors contribute to the sexual satisfaction in long-term, non-monogamous couples. Specifically, we are interested in the contribution of the use of erotic material, ways in which a couple show love with one another outside of sexual interactions, as well as a couple's perspective on the valence of sexuality (whether it is viewed positively or negatively) as a way to understand their level of sexual satisfaction.

# Sexual Satisfaction in the LDS Couples.

#### **Graduate Research Assistant**

May 2020 - August 2020

Couple and Family Therapy, University of Nevada, Las Vegas

Supervisor: Brandon Eddy, Ph.D., LMFT

This particular research is conducted by two graduate students and is being completed in order to fulfill a research capstone requirement. The intent of this qualitative study is to better understand sexual satisfaction and factors leading to sexual awareness in LDS couples. My role was to transcribe interviews held by the primary researchers.

# Center for Organizational Leadership Laboratory (COL) Undergraduate Research Assistant

January 2017- January 2019

Department of Psychology, University of Cincinnati

Supervisor: Donna Chrobot-Mason, Ph.D.

The COL Lab is recognized regionally and nationally for their leadership research, education, and service. COL researchers investigate how leaders can bridge boundaries (i.e. the challenge of leading those who differ into culture, gender, ethnicity, organizational identity, etc.) to foster individual, group, and organizational performance. As a COL undergraduate research assistant, I had many duties in this lab including analyzing data from research surveys, leading projects such as the diversity training project for UC faculty and staff, assisting with IRB proposals and creating a methodology for our studies. Additional responsibilities include literature reviews and dissemination of research findings through journal abstract submissions, posters, and conference presentations.

# Perceptual Motor Dynamics Laboratory (PMD) Undergraduate Research Assistant

April 2017 – December 2018

Department of Psychology, University of Cincinnati

Supervisor: Kevin Shockley, Ph.D.

I assisted with projects examining affordance actualization, such as data entry, literature reviews, and running participants through study protocols. I coordinated a research study analyzing beat perception and rhythm with an electroencephalography (EEG) machine, requiring the knowledge of reading EEG signals as well as how to run EEG on participants. Other obligations include creating a methodology for the study, analyzing the data and dissemination of research findings.

# Child and Adolescent Health Research Laboratory (CAHRL) Undergraduate Research Assistant

May 2016 – April 2018

Department of Psychology, University of Cincinnati

Supervisor: Kristen Jastrowski Mano, Ph.D.

CAHRL's research is focused on the cognitive and emotional mechanisms associated with the development and maintenance of pediatric chronic pain. As an undergraduate research assistant in CAHRL, I assisted with several grant-funded research projects examining psychological and social-emotional functioning among healthy emerging adults as well as children and adolescents with complex health-related difficulties, projects aimed at measuring school-related anxiety among emerging adults and attentional processes involved in the maintenance of pediatric chronic pain. Additional responsibilities as a research assistant in CAHRL included running study participants, creating databases for study data, as well as conducting literature searches.

### Health Anxiety and Psychopathology Laboratory (HAPL)

# **Undergraduate Research Assistant**

October 2015- August 2016

Department of Psychology, University of Cincinnati

Supervisor: Alison C. McLeish, Ph.D.

The HAPL focuses on systematically identifying and evaluating anxiety-related cognitive risk factors and their effects on chronic medical conditions as well as comorbid substance use and chronic medical conditions. As an HAPL research assistant, I was responsible for data entry and management in SPSS, running participants through study protocols, assisting with the formation of scientific posters and manuscripts.

#### **PUBLICATIONS AND PRESENTATIONS**

#### **Published Abstracts:**

**Kessler, A. G.,** Moore, D. M., Chrobot-Mason, D. (2018, April). Discrimination and sexuality – research for diversity training development. University of Cincinnati Undergraduate Scholarly Showcase, Cincinnati, OH.

**Kessler, A. G.,** Roshong, K., O'Bryan, E. M., Kraemer, K. M., & McLeish, A. C. (2016, April). Examining the role of mindfulness skills in terms of drinking motives among socially anxious individuals. 50<sup>th</sup> annual meeting of the Association for Behavioral and Cognitive Therapies, New York, NY.

Roshong, K., **Kessler, A. G.,** O'Bryan, E. M., & McLeish, A. C. (2016, March). Attentional control as a predictor of anxiety-related risk factors. 50<sup>th</sup> annual meeting of the Association for Behavioral and Cognitive Therapies, New York, NY.

#### Workshops:

**Kessler, A.G.,** Brandt, C., Moore, D. M., (2018, April). Using Critical Incidents to Foster Inclusion at UC. Professional Development Workshop given at the 10<sup>th</sup> Annual Equity and Inclusion Conference, Cincinnati, OH.

#### **MEMBERSHIPS AND AFFILIATIONS**

American Association of Sexuality Educators, Counselors, and Therapists, student member (2020)

American Association for Marriage and Family Therapy, student member (2020)

Delta Kappa Zeta, student member, Secretary of UNLV branch (2020)

Sex Education Network, member (2018-2019)

Ohio Adolescent Health Partnership, member (2018-2019)

Human Trafficking Coalition, affiliate (2018-2019)

Take Back the Night, committee member (2018-2019)

Boone County Alliance for Youth, affiliate (2018-2019)

**Greater Cincinnati Latino Coalition**, affiliate (2018-2019)

Campbell Co Drug Free Alliance, affiliate (2018-2019)

**Immigrant Survivors of Partner Violence**, affiliate (2018-2019)

Down Syndrome Association of Greater Cincinnati, affiliate (2018-2019)

Academy of Management (AOM), student member (2018)

Psychology Club, student member (2014-2018)

Association for Behavioral and Cognitive Therapies (ABCT), student member (2016)

#### PROFESSIONAL HONORS AND DISTINCTIONS

Spring 2016 - 2018 **Dean's List**, University of Cincinnati – McMicken College of Arts and Sciences

2014 - 2022 **Collaborative Institutional Training Initiative Certification** (CITI) – CITI Certified

2019 – 2024 Collaborative Institutional Training Initiative Certification (CITI) – Human Research Group, 2. Social/Behavioral IRB, 1. Basic Course 2019 – NA Collaborative Institutional Training Initiative Certification (CITI) – Responsible Conduct of Research, Humanities Responsible Conduct of Research Course, 1 - RCR

#### **TEACHING EXPERIENCE**

Sexual, Relationship and Reproductive Health topics – May 2018-August 2019; consent, birth control, STI's, anatomy, healthy vs unhealthy relationships, boundary setting, parenting classes, how to talk to kids about sexual health and sex, etc.

C3/C4 presentations / mandatory reporting trainings – May 2018-August 2019

Personal Responsibility Education Program (PREP) – May 2018-August 2019;

trainings, education sessions, coalition meetings

**Boot Camps** – May 2018-August 2019; professional development on topics listed under sexual, relationship and reproductive health topics

**Get Real** – May 2018-August 2019; kindergarten, elementary school, junior high school, high school

Reducing the Risk – May 2018-August 2019; trained others, taught in schools **Developmentally Disabled Clients** – May 2018-August 2019; one on one, utilizing curricula

**Educate within community** – May 2018-August 2019; (girls clubs, after school programs, community clubs, schools, adult housing) ages of participants range from 5-65.

**Peer Education Program** – May 2018-August 2019; trainings, supervisor of 5 collegeaged peer educators

**NEO Trainings** – May 2018-August 2019; trainings for new members of the Planned Parenthood team

**Tabling events** – May 2018-August 2019; educating the public on sexual and reproductive health

# **Conflict Resolution and Management Teaching Assistant**

January 2018-May 2018

Department of Psychology, University of Cincinnati

Professor: Seth Schwartz, Esq.

Throughout this position, my job was to grade term papers, presentations and grades, attend class regularly and have the knowledge and technology skills allowing me to present class information via excel. Through knowing the course content thoroughly and being able to convey that to the students, I taught the class on multiple occasions teaching me useful skills concerning how to convey important information in comprehensible and concise lectures.

# **Child Development**

# **Teaching Assistant**

May 2017-December 2017

Department of Psychology, University of Cincinnati

Professor: Carol Wissman

My responsibilities included grading term papers and presentations, attending class regularly, presenting material to the class, overseeing the online course management (Blackboard) site and tutoring students outside of regular class hours.

### Personality

## **Teaching Assistant**

May 2017-August 2017

Department of Psychology, University of Cincinnati

Professor: Nancy Rogers, Ph.D.

Position consisted of grading student's work, conducting class meetings virtually with students via WEBEX online video chat, handling the online presence of the classroom work and assignments and managing/grading student's assignments.

#### **VOLUNTEER EXPERIENCE**

# **UC Early Learning Center**

#### **Classroom Assistant**

May 2017 – November 2017

Assisted teachers with recreational activities for the students, managing classrooms, led class activities for children in preschool/kindergarten.

#### 4 Paws 4 Ability

# Socialization and Skills Trainer for Service Dogs

January 2017 - August 2018

Trained a four-month golden lab mix to have proper manners, know how to perform tricks, stay well-behaved in public, and meet the social requirements of the program to become a certified service animal.

#### References

# University of Nevada, Las Vegas

Sara Jordan, Ph.D., LMFT
Associate Professor
Graduate Coordinator and Program Director of Couple and Family Therapy
Department of Couple and Family Therapy
University of Nevada, Las Vegas
(702) 895-5759
<a href="mailto:sara.jordan@unlv.edu">sara.jordan@unlv.edu</a>

University of Nevada, Las Vegas William Arndt, LMFT, LCADC Practicum Supervisor Head to Heart Private Practice (702) 460-7236 William.arndt@unlv.edu

Planned Parenthood
Sarah Dahlston, MS, CHES®
Director of Education
Planned Parenthood Southwest Ohio Region
(937) 528-4662
sdahlston@ppswo.org